
There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Philippa Turvey on 01733 452460 as soon as possible.

AB
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 18 NOVEMBER 2014
1.30 PM

Bourges/Viersen Rooms - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council. 
Members must also declare if they are subject to their party group whip in 
relation to any items under consideration.

3. Members' Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward 
Councillor

4. Minutes of the Meeting Held on 21 October 2014 5 - 18

5. Development Control and Enforcement Matters

5.1 14/01558/WCPP - Milton Builders And Groundworks, 
Werrington Bridge Road, Milking Nook, Peterborough

19 - 28

5.2 14/01631/FUL - Herlington House, Benyon Grove, Orton 
Malborne, Peterborough

29 - 40

Public Document Pack



Exclusion of the Press and Public

In accordance with Standing Orders, Members are asked to determine whether agenda 
item 5.3 Enforcement Action in Stanground Central Ward, which contains exempt 
information like to identify an individual or company where prosecution is being considered, 
as defined by Paragraphs 1,2 and 3 of Schedule 12A of Part 1 of the Local Government 
Act 1972, should be exempt and the press and public excluded from the meeting when 
these appendices are discussed or whether the public interest in disclosing this information 
outweighs the public interest in maintaining the exemption.

5.3 Enforcement Action in Stanground Central Ward 41 - 50

6. 157-161 Fletton Avenue (Palace Gardens), Fletton, Peterborough - 
Local Government Ombudsman Case

51 - 64

7. Adoption Of The Model Council Members Planning Code Or Protocol 65 - 76

8. Planning Compliance Quarterly Report on Activity & Performance July 
to September 2014

77 - 80

Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use 
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is 
available at: 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recordi
ng.pdf

Committee Members:

Councillors: C Harper (Chairman), L Serluca (Vice Chairman), G Casey, P Hiller, N North, 
J Stokes, Sylvester, S Martin, D Harrington and C Ash

Substitutes: Councillors: B Rush, N Shabbir and B Saltmarsh

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Philippa Turvey on telephone 01733 
452460 or by email – philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf


CASE OFFICERS:

Planning and Development Team: Nicholas Harding, Lee Collins, Andrew Cundy, Paul Smith, 
Mike Roberts, Louise Lewis, Janet Maclennan, Astrid 
Hawley, David Jolley, Louise Lovegrove, Vicky Hurrell, 
Amanda McSherry, Sam Falco, Matt Thomson, Chris 
Edwards, Michael Freeman

Minerals and Waste: Theresa Nicholl, Alan Jones

Compliance: Nigel Barnes, Anthony Whittle, Karen Cole, Julie Robshaw

NOTES:

1. Any queries on completeness or accuracy of reports should be raised with the Case Officer 
or Head of Planning, Transport and Engineering Services as soon as possible.

2. The purpose of location plans is to assist Members in identifying the location of the site.  
Location plans may not be up-to-date, and may not always show the proposed development.  

3. These reports take into account the Council's equal opportunities policy but have no 
implications for that policy, except where expressly stated.

4. The background papers for planning applications are the application file plus any documents 
specifically referred to in the report itself.

5. These reports may be updated orally at the meeting if additional relevant information is 
received after their preparation.



This page is intentionally left blank



AB
    MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH ON 21 OCTOBER 2014

Members Present: Councillors Harper (Chair), Serluca (Vice-Chair), Casey, Hiller, North, 
Rush, Stokes, Sylvester, Martin, Harrington and Ash.

Officers Present:  Nick Harding, Head of Development and Construction
Jez Tuttle, Senior Engineer (Development)
Simon Ireland, Principal Engineer (Highway Control)
Hannah Vincent, Planning and Highways Lawyer
Pippa Turvey, Senior Governance Officer

1. Apologies for Absence

No apologies for absence were received. 

2. Declarations of Interest

No declarations of interest were received.

3.    Members’ Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward Councillor

No Member Declarations of intention to make representations as Ward Councillor were 
received.

4.    Development Control and Enforcement Matters

4.1 14/00895/HHFUL – 80 Ledbury Road, Netherton, Peterborough, PE3 9PJ

The planning application was for a two storey side extension and first floor rear 
extension at 80 Ledbury Road, Netherton.

The main considerations were:
 The impact of the proposal on the character of the area
 The impact of the proposal on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 

dwellings
 Objections

It was officer’s recommendation that planning permission be granted, subject to the 
conditions set out in the report.

The Head of Development and Construction provided an overview of the application and 
raised the following key points:

 A previous scheme on the site had been approved in 2013, however the 
proceeding development was not in line with the approval.

 An error had been identified within the current on site construction as the roof 
trusses were of the incorrect size. This was in the process of being corrected.

 Issues had been raised in relation to the neighbouring garage and water pooling 
as a result of the extension. This was not a planning matter, but a private matter 

5



between parties.
 The method for drainage prior to previous garage extension was unclear.
 The overhanging nature of the eves, on the neighbour’s property was similarly a 

private matter that could not be resolved by the Committee.
 Further objections had been received in the update report from Stewart Jackson 

MP, Councillor Arculus and a local resident.

Councillor Maqbool and Councillor Fitzgerald, Ward Councillors, addressed the 
Committee and responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points 
highlighted included:

 A lot of time had been spent on this application, with reservations from 
neighbours and local residents associations. 

 Normal protocol for planning permission had not been followed, as such this 
application was retrospective.

 Individuals living nearby were keen to have the development completed as soon 
as possible, if permission was granted.

 The proposal was considered to be oversized.
 The applicant had disregarded planning law.
 The construction site was an eyesore.
 The Committee had no power to force the applicant to finish work, even if 

permission was granted, and this could be a problem.
 It was questioned whether the Committee could approve an application which 

did not meet building control regulations.
 The Ward Councillors suggested that, once finished, the development would not 

be a problem but were concerned that work would not be completed or would not 
be completed in line with approved plans.

George Oommen and Bindu George addressed the Committee in objection to the 
application and responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points 
highlighted included:

 Mr Oommen and Ms George had moved into the property neighbouring the 
development site in late 2013. 

 The previous joint garage had been knocked down to build an extension.
 The original plan indicated a gap between the two properties, however when 

built the two were joined together.
 While the applicant had offered to fix the drainage problem on the garage roof by 

installing a pipe this was not considered sufficient.
 Mr Oommen could not believe that the Council could not assist to rectify this 

problem, as it was the Council who permitted the application. 
 Mr Oommen and Ms George were not aware of how the drainage from the 

garage was previously addressed, having only moved to the property recently.
 The Committee were urged to reject the application and maintain the gap 

between residences.  

Phil Branston, Branston Associates, addressed the Committee in support of the 
application and responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points 
highlighted included:

 The issues surrounding this development had been long running. After 
negotiation with planning officers an agreement had now been reached.

 The original plan was not adhered to however this was an issue that needed to 
be resolved. The applicant was keen to finish the development, which was 
shown by the work completed within the past week.

 Building Regulations had been approved on 8 August.

6



 The situation with the neighbouring property was unfortunate and would be 
resolved legally.

 Remedial work was being undertaken to the roof where incorrect trusses had 
been used.

 Mr Branston assured the Committee that the development would be built as per 
the submitted plans.

The Head of Development and Construction clarified that the developments adherence  
to Building Regulations was a separate legal process and could not be a ground for 
refusal. Issues relating to drainage on the neighbours property were a private law matter 
and could not be taken into account by members when determining the application, 
however the neighbour had been advised to seek specialist property advice. The fact 
the application was retrospective was not a reason for refusal. The Head of 
Development and Construction was satisfied with the design submitted.

The Committee discussed the application and several members commented that the 
size and massing of the proposal was significant. It was considered that in relation to the 
large plot size, the proposal would be acceptable on balance.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation. The motion was carried eight voting in favour and two voting 
against.

RESOLVED: (eight voted in favour, two voted against) that planning permission is 
GRANTED subject to the conditions set out in the reports.

Reasons for the decision

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal was acceptable having 
been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against 
relevant policies of the development plan and specifically, the proposal would not 
unacceptably harm the character of the area or the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring dwellings; in accordance with policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy (DPD) and policies PP2 and PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies (DPD) 
2012.

4.2 14/01033/FUL – 270 Eastfield Road, Eastfield, Peterborough, PE1 4BE

The planning application was for the change of use of an original building from office 
building to Elderly Care Home plus side and rear extensions to provide, overall, a 62 
bedroom Elderly Care Home for the over 65’s at 270 Eastfield Road, Eastfield.

The main considerations were:
 Principle of Development
 Recent Site History
 Design
 Amenity for future residents
 Access and Parking
 Impact on Neighbours
 Sustainability
 Drainage
 Impact on Locally Listed Building
 Landscape and Ecology
 Section 106

7



It was officer’s recommendation that planning permission be granted, subject to the 
conditions set out in the report.

The Head of Development and Construction provided an overview of the application and 
raised the following key points:

 The existing modern extensions to the building were proposed to be removed 
and access to the rear maintained.

 A previous scheme for the site was refused permission, in part, because of its 
proximity to nearby residential properties. The current scheme before Committee 
allowed for a greater separation distance from neighbouring properties.

 The design was in keeping with the host property. 
 The windows on the upper floors were angled and recessed to avoid 

overlooking.
 The previous reasons for refusing development on this site had all been 

addressed within this revised scheme.
 A condition in order to restrict the use of the site to residential accommodation 

and care for adults in need of full-time care was included in the recommendation.

Councillor Shearman and Councillor Peach, Ward Councillors, addressed the 
Committee and responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points 
highlighted included:

 Residents welcomed the improvements made from the previous scheme 
submitted. 

 The fact that it was no longer proposed to house student accommodation and 
that the original building and trees were to be protected was welcomed.

 The mass of the proposal was still too large.
 Parking was not assured and appeared to be dependent of staff travelling via 

mini-bus. This was not considered to be good enough.
 There was still a considerable amount of overlook on neighbouring properties.
 It was requested that the extra condition restricting use be altered to ‘elderly care 

home’ as per the application.
 Traffic is a concerning issue. The road was very busy and College Park Road 

was very narrow.
 It was requested that all trees be protected.

John Grimsey, addressed the Committee in objection to the application and responded 
to questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

 The proposal was too big for the site.
 Residents were happy that the site would be used for elderly care and that the 

original building was to be retained. 
 Previous reasons for refusal regarding design and mass of the buildings were 

still relevant.
 The proposal sill presented a lack of privacy. 
 The parking difficulties that would result from the development would add to 

those already existing. The footprint of the development should be decreased 
and parking provision increased.

 It was questioned whether conditions relating to enforcement, lighting and 
restriction of use were robust enough to implement.

The Senior Engineer (Development) explained that parking provision for elderly care 
homes varied for each development and that the Council’s policy on parking provision 
provided a maximum standard for parking, not minimum.

8



The Planning and Highways Lawyer advised that the conditions relating to enforcement 
and lighting were considered sufficiently robust. Condition 16 may be strengthened by 
changing the wording to ‘adults over 65’.

The Committee discussed the parking provision provided with the application, with 
several Members expression concern as to whether it would be sufficient. It was 
highlighted that the majority of care home residents would not themselves be driving, so 
parking would be used primarily by staff and visitors. 

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation, with an amendment to condition 16 to read ‘elderly persons’. 
The motion was carried nine voting in favour and one voting against.

RESOLVED: (nine voted in favour, one voted against) that planning permission is 
GRANTED subject to the conditions set out in the reports and the amendment of 
condition 16 to read ‘elderly persons’.

Reasons for the decision

 The site was in a residential area and was suitable for a residential use.
 The development could be carried out without harm to the existing locally listed 

building.
 The development would allow for the retention of protected trees.
 Adequate access and parking could be provided.
 The development would not lead to any unacceptable impact on the amenity of 

neighbours.

4.3 14/01060/R3FUL – Thorpe Primary School, Atherstone Avenue, Netherton, 
Peterborough

The planning application was for the partial infill of the existing courtyard at Thorpe 
Primary School, Artherstone Avenue and the single storey rear extension and erection 
of a single storey teaching block. Associated alterations to the car park at the front of the 
site were also applied for, with an extension of the car park to the rear.

The main considerations were:
 Principle of Development 
 Highways Impacts and Car Parking
 Design and Layout
 Landscape Impacts
 Ecological Issues
 Construction Management
 Other Matters

It was officer’s recommendation that planning permission be granted, subject to the 
conditions set out in the report.

The Head of Development and Construction provided an overview of the application and 
raised the following key points:

 The application had been deferred from a previous meeting of the Committee in 
order to consider impact on parking and congestion.

 Four options had been outlined to mitigate any highways impact. Options C and 
D involved the loss of playing field areas and were not workable for the school. 
These options were unlikely to attract support from Sport England.

9



 Option A provided a layby on Atherstone Avenue with space for two vehicles. As 
this option was on street and would have only a small impact, it was considered 
unsuitable. 

 Option B was recommended to the Committee. This provided a drop off area in 
the front car park with separate entryway and exitway.

 As the expansion of the school would be phased, it was proposed that the need 
for a drop of provision be monitored at each phase. 

 A base line survey of traffic levels would be undertaken before and expansion 
occurred. After each expansion phase a further survey would take place to 
establish if any increase in traffic had resulted. Only if there was a significant 
increase, the drop off scheme would be implemented. 

 If the entire expansion was completed without a significant increase in traffic, the 
drop off scheme would not be actioned.

Councillor Fitzgerald, Ward Councillor, addressed the Committee and responded to 
questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

 The Councillor had met with school parties. 
 The increase in pupil numbers would be phased over several years.
 The options put forward to Committee show that further thought had been given 

to the highways impact of the proposals.
 The options put forward represent a compromise. 
 If the area at the front of the school was needed it could be used, if the survey 

highlighted a more significant increase in traffic than expected.
 Councillor Fitzgerald was reluctant to see the loss of a sporting site.

Peter Flewers addressed the Committee in objection to the application and responded 
to questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

 Even if the increase in pupil numbers was phased, the traffic would still get 
worse.

 Options A and B would provide insufficient mitigation. 
 If option D was not possible, option C would be preferable. 
 Attention was drawn to a traffic incident which had occurred in the area which 

had resulted in a child being knocked down and suffering from permanent 
memory loss.

 Mr Flewers had consulted 40 people, all of which objected to the proposals on 
the grounds of safety, environment and community.

 Cars parking on roads and drives would break up communities.
 The construction traffic would cause a significant amount of congestion. The 

road proposed for construction traffic use was far too narrow.
 If the application was approved local residents would have a deep lack of faith in 

the Council, who had disregarded the safety of children.

The Senior Engineer (Development) clarified that although it was anticipated that an 
increase in traffic would occur with the proposal, it was not expected that this would 
result in an increase in accidents. Those travelling by car would spread out over the 
area and walk in. The suggested drop off area may increase traffic flow problems by 
attracting people to drive closer to the school. In response to a question from Committee 
the Senior Engineer (Development) assured Members that work would be undertaken 
with the school and Ward Councillor to provide a travel plan.

The Committee discussed the consideration that had now been given to the highway 
implications of the proposal. It was considered that option B would provide sufficient 
mitigation, although some Members suggested that traffic problems would still result.

10



A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation, subject to the conditions set out in the report along with the 
inclusion of additional condition 18 allowing for the implementation of Option B should 
traffic monitoring establish a significant increase in congestion as a result of the 
expansion.

RESOLVED: (eight voted in favour, two voted against) that planning permission is 
GRANTED subject to the conditions set out in the reports along with the inclusion of 
additional condition 18 allowing for the implementation of Option B should traffic 
monitoring establish a significant increase in congestion as a result of the expansion.

Reasons for the decision

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal was acceptable having 
been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighting against 
relevant policies of the development plan and specifically:

 The development would help address the shortage of school places within the 
West Planning Area and the expansion of schools was supported by the National 
Planning Policy Framework. No objection to the proposal had been received from 
Sport England subject to the attached conditions. The principle of development 
was, therefore, considered to be acceptable.

 The development would result in additional traffic on the local highway network. 
This impact could be partly mitigated by a Parking Management Plan and Travel 
Plan in accordance with policy CS14 of the adopted Core Strategy. There would, 
however, be an impact on the local network. This impact had to be balanced with 
the need to provide additional school places in the local area, which in this 
instance was considered to outweigh the potential highway congestion 
particularly as there were no highway safety concerns. Additional car and cycle 
parking would be provided in accordance with policy PP13 of the adopted 
Planning Policies DPD.

 The design of the proposed extensions was considered to be acceptable, and 
there would not be any unacceptable adverse impact upon neighbour amenity. 
The proposal therefore accorded with policy CS16 of the adopted Core Strategy 
and policies PP2 and PP3 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.

 The tree removals proposed by this application were considered to be acceptable 
in light of the condition of the trees and their limited amenity value. Neither would 
any significant ecological impacts result. Subject to conditions therefore, the 
proposal was, therefore, considered to comply with policy PP16 of the adopted 
Planning Policies DPD.

4.4 14/01375/FUL – Land to the Rear of Barsby Cooked Meats, Northey Road, 
Peterborough

The planning application was a retrospective application for the retention of two touring 
caravans at the land to the rear of Barsby Cooked Meats, Northey Road and the siting 
of one new static caravan with facilities block and relocation of existing stables.

The main considerations were:
 Principle of development
 Access to services / facilities

11



 Archaeology
 Landscape character
 Access and highway implication
 Residential amenity
 Contamination
 Ecology
 Drainage and flood risk
 Minerals and waste safeguarding

It was officer’s recommendation that planning permission be granted, subject to the 
conditions set out in the report.

The Head of Development and Construction provided an overview of the application and 
raised the following key points:

 A development similar to that proposed had been approved on the land adjacent 
to the application site.

 Access to the site would be hardsurfaced and the remaining site would be laid 
with stone chippings.

 The stables currently on the site would be relocated to elsewhere on site.
 The Council had no allocation for permanent pitch sites. This absence of existing 

provision meant that it would be difficult to refuse this application.
 English Heritage had objected to the application because of the impact it would 

have on the flag fen monument. However, the adjacent site had been approved 
and a site existed immediately adjacent to the monument which had recently 
been upheld at appeal as not having an impact on the monument.

Councillor Sanders, Ward Councillor, addressed the Committee and responded to 
questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

 Thorney Parish Council had also objected the proposals.
 Concerns were raised in relation to flooding risks and the loss of possible 

archaeological findings.
 It was accepted that the site was in a low flood risk area and that no evidence of 

archaeological remains had been found.

Mr Barry Nicholls, Agent, addressed the Committee in support of the application and 
responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

 The Parish Council’s objection had been without grounds and it was not 
necessary for this application to be brought to Committee.

 The applicant had accepted all the proposed conditions, including those in 
relation to landscaping. 

 The site present no real risk of flooding. 
 The proposal would help the Council fulfil its five year supply of Gypsy and 

Traveller sites.
 Seven letters of support had been received from local residents. 

The Committee discussed the objection raised by the Minerals and Waste Officer. It was 
advised by the Head of Development and Construction that the proposal threaten 
reserves to such a small degree that it was not considered a reason to refuse the 
application.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation. The motion was carried unanimously.

12



RESOLVED: (unanimous) that planning permission is GRANTED subject to the 
conditions set out in the reports.

Reasons for the decision

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal was acceptable having 
been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against 
relevant policies of the development plan and specifically:

 the City Council could not demonstrate an available five-year land supply of 
Gypsy and Traveller sites and the proposals met an identified need for such sites 
within the locality, in accordance with Policy H of the Planning Policy for 
Traveller Sites (2012);

 the application site was located within a reasonable distance of local services 
and facilities, in accordance with Policy H of the Planning Policy for Traveller 
Sites (2012) and Policy CS9 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011);

 the proposal would not result in unacceptable impact upon the setting of 
designated heritage assets and adequate provision for the assessment of 
undesignated heritage assets can be achieved.  Further, any harm that may 
result was considered to be outweighed by the public benefit of providing much 
needed Gypsy/Traveller accommodation, in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS17 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies 
DPD (2012);

 the proposal would not result in any unacceptable impact to the landscape 
character or visual amenity of the locality, in accordance with Policy H of the 
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (2012), Policies CS9 and CS20 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP16 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 adequate parking provision would be made within the curtilage of the site and 
the proposal would not result in unacceptable risk to the safety of the public 
highway, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies 
DPD (2012);

 the proposal would not result in any unacceptable impact to the amenities of 
neighbouring occupants, in accordance with Policies CS9 and CS16 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 potential contamination risks could be adequately addressed so as to prevent 
any undue risk to human health, in accordance with Policy PP20 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 no unacceptable impact would result to nearby ecology or species of principal 
importance, in accordance with Policies CS9 and CS21 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Polices PP16 and PP19 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012); 

 adequate provision could be made for surface and foul water drainage so as to 

13



prevent any unacceptable flood risk elsewhere, in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2012) and Policy CS22 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011); and

 owing to the presence of existing development within the site, there was no 
potential opportunity to extract any minerals contained therein, in accordance 
with Policy CS26 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste 
Core Strategy DPD (2011).  

4.5 14/01509/FUL – 241 Park Road, Peterborough, PE1 2UT

The planning application was for an additional single storey building at 241 Park Road, 
Peterborough for childcare provision. 

The main considerations were:
 Expansion of an existing education facility
 Parking and highway implications
 Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
 Neighbour amenity

It was officer’s recommendation that planning permission be refused for the reasons set 
out in the report.

The Head of Development and Construction provided an overview of the application and 
raised the following key points:

 The site currently catered 52 child spaces. The proposals would increase this to 
76. No additional staff would be required.

 The development would fill a grass play area between two existing buildings and 
would be 2.9 tall with a flat roof.

 The site currently provided eight parking spaces, however this was reduced to 
four when taking into account turning space. Discussions were being had with 
adjacent property owners to obtain an additional two spaces.

 Site visits had been undertaken by the planning officer where it was observed 
that cars were parking on the pavement or blocking the car park, which resulted 
in stacking.

 Refusal was recommended on the grounds of parking, overdevelopment, impact 
on neighbour amenity and noise and disturbance.

 An additional objection had been received from Stewart Jackson MP as well as 
two additional letters of support from Early Years staff.

Councillor Shearman, Ward Councillor, addressed the Committee and responded to 
questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) stated that great weight 
needed to be placed upon the expansions of schools.

 There was a shortfall of places in the area, which had been increased by the 
Government initiative to provide places for more two year olds.

 Education standards needed to be raised in the area and could be done through 
more spaces in this outstanding nursery.

 There were challenges to meet regarding car parking, however teachers urge 
parents to be sensible. 

 It was hoped that conditions could be suggested to deal with the parking 
arrangements, such as a staggered start or off-peak hours, and planning 
permission be granted.

 The nursery was in a residential street, however permission had been granted 

14



for nursery use.

Andrew Brown addressed the Committee in objection to the application and responded 
to questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

 Mr Brown lived in the property neighbouring the site and was Chair of Governors 
and Kings School, as such he had an interest in the safety of young people.

 If this proposal was approved, 50% of the site would be built on. Only a small 
section of the site would be left for play space for up to 76 children.

 The proposal represented overdevelopment which the street would be unable to 
accommodate.

 It was believed that the nursery did not currently operate at maximum capacity, 
so additional spaces were not required.

 The shortage of spaces was prevalent in other areas and would mean that 
parents would travel from further afield. 

 The access was designed for a residential dwelling. As such, reversing out of the 
site caused significant problems. The traffic was more noticeable as the nursery 
increased in size.

 Funding on expansion would be better spent elsewhere.
 The proposal would constitute overdevelopment regardless of the traffic issues.

Robert Gooding, GOOD-DESIGN-ING LTD, and Pam Setterfield, Targeted Services and 
Sufficiency Team, addressed the Committee in support of the application and 
responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

 16,000 extra children were now eligible for child care. 
 This need had been assessed on a local level and Park Ward had been 

identified as in need.
 Hours of child care would be delivered outside of peak hours or could be 

staggered.
 It was expected that up to 70% of parents would be local.
 The proposal would link up the existing buildings and would, in fact, help mitigate 

the noise levels. 
 Access to the play area was staggered. 
 The nursery was operating at full capacity.
 There were fire assembly points at the front and back of the site, with access 

along the side. 

The Head of Development and Construction advised that conditions could not be 
imposed on pre-existing development. As such, any condition relating to the hours of 
use of the proposal would be unenforceable.

The Committee discussed the traffic problems presented by the proposals, such as 
exiting the site. The fact was highlighted that the proposal was a commercial operation 
within a residential area. The Committee recognised the importance of child care 
however considered the site to be an inappropriate location to expand. One Committee 
Member suggested that the proposal would not make the situation significantly worse 
than present.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be refused, as per 
officer recommendation. The motion was carried nine voting in favour and one voting 
against.

RESOLVED: (nine voted in favour, one voted against) that planning permission is 
REFUSED.

15



Reasons for the decision

The proposal was unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material 
considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and 
for the specific reasons given in the report.

4.6 14/01416/HHFUL – 33 The Orchards, Orton Waterville, Peterborough, PE2 5LA

Councillor Serluca retired from the Committee.

The planning application was for a proposed two storey side and single storey rear 
extension at 33 The Orchards, Orton Waterville.

The main considerations were:
 The design of the extensions and their impact on the visual appearance and 

character of the area.
 The impact of the proposals upon the amenity of neighbouring / nearby 

residents.

It was officer’s recommendation that planning permission be granted, subject to the 
conditions set out in the report.

The Head of Development and Construction provided an overview of the application and 
raised the following key points:

 The first floor extension was only above the garage and no further.
 It was not considered that the proposal would have a detrimental impact on the 

neighbours, nor would it be overbearing.
 The separation distance between the proposed development and the 

neighbouring property increased further into the site due to the layout of the 
plots. At its largest the distance between the two properties would be 
approximately three metres.

The Committee discussed the application and several Members commented that the 
proposals were too large and would have an overbearing impact on the neighbouring 
property. The possibility of ensuring the first floor window was obscure glazed and non-
opening was discussed, to mitigate concerns regarding loss of privacy.

It was clarified that permitted development rights allowed extensions of up to four 
metres at ground floor level. The proposal for the most part projected 4.3 meters from 
the rear wall however did extent to 6.28 metres at its longest.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be refused, contrary to 
officer recommendation because of the overbearing impact of the proposal and the loss 
of privacy. Four voted in favour, four voted against and two abstained from voting. The 
Chair used his casting vote against the motion, as such the motion fell. 

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation, with the inclusion of a condition that the first floor rear window 
be obscure glazing and non-opening. The motion was carried six voting in favour, one 
voting against and two abstentions.

RESOLVED: (six voted in favour, one voted against, two abstained from voting) that 
planning permission is GRANTED subject to the conditions set out in the reports and an 
additional condition that the first floor rear window be obscure glazing and non-opening.

16



Reasons for the decision

The proposal had been considered against the relevant development plan policies 
namely policies PP2 and PP3 of the Planning Policies DPD.  It was considered that 
these policies were in accordance with the aims of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and as such there were no other material considerations to take into 
account.  The views of the neighbours had been taken into account.  The original 
proposal had been amended and it was considered that the revised scheme would not 
have any significant impact upon any neighbouring or nearby resident.  The proposal 
was also acceptable in terms of design.  The application was accordingly recommended 
for approval subject to conditions.

Chairman
1.30pm – 5:09pm

17



This page is intentionally left blank



19



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning and EP Committee 18 November 2014                                                                 Item 1

Application Ref: 14/01558/WCPP 

Proposal: Variation of condition C6 on Planning Permission 12/01154/WCPP - 
Change of use from builders yard to mixed use of builders yard and plant 
hire (Sui Generis), removal of five free standing storage containers from 
existing building and groundworks compound, construction of steel clad 
building and siting of two Portakabins

Site: Milton Builders And Groundworks, Werrington Bridge Road, Milking Nook, 
Peterborough

Applicant: Mr Richard Calton

Agent:
Referred by: Director of Growth and Regeneration
Reason: Previous Committee decision 
Site visit: 09.04.2014

Case officer: Miss Louise Lovegrove
Telephone No. 01733 454439
E-Mail: louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings
The application site comprises an operative Plant Hire business with ancillary servicing/repairs and 
storage of vehicles which was granted planning permission under application reference 
12/00707/FUL.  The site lies outside any identified village envelopes and is therefore within the 
open countryside.  There is an existing detached building on the site, two no. portacabins used as 
offices and a number of storage containers along the northern and eastern boundary.  The site is 
accessed from Werrington Bridge Road via a shared crossing with Fen Cottage (also under the 
ownership of the Applicant).  To the rear of the site lies an enclosed paddock (also owned by the 
Applicant) which has a lawful agricultural use.  

Planning permission was granted earlier in the year under application reference 14/00908/FUL to 
change the use of an agricultural paddock to the rear of the site to allow for the parking of 
employee vehicles and those machines/vehicles awaiting servicing and repairs.  This permission is 
currently being completed (the application was part-retrospective as the development had already 
commenced prior to the application).

Proposal
The application seeks planning permission to vary one of the conditions placed upon the original 
permission for the site to allow for the parking of 5 no. lorries in connection with the plant hire 
business.  As only three lorries are currently used at any one time, Officers have amended this to 
the parking of only 3 no. lorries (2no. Class 2 lorries and 1no. 7500kg lorry).

The application originally sought to vary condition C6 of planning permission reference 
12/00707/FUL.  However, it should be noted that the extant planning permission on the site is 
actually 12/01154/WCPP.  Accordingly, Officers have amended the description of development to 
relate to a variation of the correct condition which is condition C6 of 12/01154/WCPP.  This 
condition states:

1

21



Prior to implementation of the use hereby approved, the areas shown for the purposes of 
parking/turning on drawing no. GDA1211P-1 3/10 Rev A shall be provided. Those areas 
shall thereafter be retained for the purpose of the parking/turning of vehicles in connection 
with use as a plant hire business and builder's yard in perpetuity.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy T10 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
(First Replacement) (2005).

This condition (and a further condition which limited the amount of plant to be hired from/stored 
within the site) prevents the parking of lorries and this is why the current application has been 
submitted.  

2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
P0020/82 Haulage yard and partial use for coal 

storage
Permitted 26/03/1982

97/01090/CLE Use as coal yard and haulage yard for one 
vehicle only

Permitted 19/01/1998

07/00120/WCPP Removal of C1 of planning permission 
06/01185/WCPP to remove coupling of 
house and business

Refused 26/03/2007

12/00707/FUL Change of use from builders yard to mixed 
use of builders yard and plant hire (Sui 
Generis), removal of five free standing 
storage containers from existing building 
and groundworks compound, construction 
of steel clad building and siting of two 
Portakabins

Permitted 04/07/2012

12/01154/WCPP Removal of conditions C2 & C3 of planning 
permission 12/00707/FUL dated 
04/07/2012 - Change of use from builders 
yard to mixed use of builders yard and plant 
hire (Sui Generis), removal of five free 
standing storage containers from existing 
building and groundworks compound, 
construction of steel clad building and siting 
of two Portakabins

Permitted 14/09/2012

14/00908/FUL Change of use of agricultural paddock to 
parking and storage of vehicles in 
association with the existing plant hire 
business

Permitted 25/07/2014

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

2

22



National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 3 - Rural Economic Growth 
Should be encouraged through sustainable growth and the expansion of business/ enterprise 
including sustainable rural tourism/leisure developments which respect the character of the 
countryside, via the conversion of existing buildings and well designed new buildings. The retention 
and development of local services and community facilities should be promoted.

Section 4 - Assessment of Transport Implications 
Development which generates a significant amount of traffic should be supported by a Transport 
Statement/Transport Assessment.  It should be located to minimise the need to travel/to maximise 
the opportunities for sustainable travel and be supported by a Travel Plan. Large scale 
developments should include a mix of uses. A safe and suitable access should be provided and 
the transport network improved to mitigate the impact of the development.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS20 - Landscape Character 
New development should be sensitive to the open countryside. Within the Landscape Character 
Areas development will only be permitted where specified criteria are met.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

4 Consultations/Representations

Newborough & Borough Fen Parish Council 
No comments received.

3

23



Transport & Engineering Services (24.09.14)
No objections – Whilst the tracking does not represent a true swept path analysis, it appears that 
the lorries can enter and exit the site in forward gear.  

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 15
Total number of responses: 2
Total number of objections: 2
Total number in support: 0

Two objections have been received from local residents on the following grounds:

 The proposal is not at all clear as it does not state at which side of the yard the vehicles would 
be entering or leaving the rear paddock.  I think I am clear to assume that the variation applies 
to the paddock at the rear of the yard so that lorries can turn and be parked on the site at any 
time.  

 The lorries would have to pass down the side of the portacabin offices and along the boundary 
fence that runs down the side of my property (Kirby Meadows Stables).  This is a very narrow 
entrance and the fence has been hit several times already.  The Applicant is refusing to mend 
the fence, presumably so that my animals get into his property and then he can harm them.  

 The lorries would cause pollution from diesel fumes which would harm people, visitors and 
animals that are kept at my premises (Kirby Meadows Stables). 

 I have previously complained about the extra stone and rubble being laid to heighten the 
ground level in the yard and in the paddock.  Allowing the lorries to enter or leave alongside 
the portacabins would only increase more damage and vibration, causing the ground to 
subside (which was the reason for the extra rubble in the first place) into my property (Kirby 
Meadows Stables) and harming my property and animals.  

 The site has been used as a race track by a younger male.  The boy is being allowed to race 
around the yard and paddock at high speeds and sometimes unsupervised.  This is causing a 
menace to my animals and I fear for their welfare and safety.  

 I understand that the ground would have to be made stable and rubble added.  This would 
again heighten the ground level and would cause more flooding to my property (Kirby 
Meadows Stables).  I am not aware that the drainage system you previously required has 
been installed yet.  

 If you do give permission to this variation, please give great consideration to not allowing 
heightening of the ground level and the pollution that would affect my property (Kirby Meadows 
Stables).  This site is already overdeveloped and allowing this variation would allow the 
Applicant to continue developing the site and laughing in your faces.  

 There are caravans being stored on the yard and rear paddock which do not have permission.
 Concerned that this site keeps expanding with more and more things being added to the use 

of the yard.  As a resident living opposite (No.3 Werrington Bridge Road), there is constant 
traffic in and out with lorries unloading plant and it being moved around the site.  Constant 
noise results 6 days a week.

 The area is rural residential not industrial and has been classed as green belt by the City 
Council so why is this site being allowed to expand?

 I also question that the planning process is underhand by not informing local residents of 
planning requests and local views are not taken into account.  

 I am sure that if I wanted to develop land I own area this would be refused because of green 
belt rules so why is industrial development taking place?

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:

4

24



 Parking and highway implications
 Neighbour amenity

a) Background 
As detailed in Section 1 above, the application site was granted planning permission under 
application reference 12/00707/FUL for the use as a Plant Hire Business.  This was originally 
granted a temporary consent however this temporary permission was removed under 
application reference 12/01154/WCPP.  However, given the location of the site within the open 
countryside and owing to the sensitivity of nearby residential properties, restrictions were 
imposed upon the permission.  These restrictions include:

 A personal permission so that the Plant Hire use is only for the benefit of Mr Richard 
Calton and Mr Charles Milton;

 A restriction on the amount of plant that may be hired from or stored within the site; and
 A restriction to the hours of operation to not outside the hours of 0800 to 1700 Monday to 

Friday; 0800 to 1200 on Saturdays; and at no time on Sundays or Bank/Public Holidays. 

Earlier this year, planning permission was granted to change the use of an agricultural 
paddock to the rear of the application site (shown on the attached drawing as Site B) to permit 
the parking of employee vehicles and those vehicles awaiting servicing/repairs.  This site was 
restricted in terms of its use and is not permitted to be used for any other purposes, including 
the parking/storage of plant for hire.  

The business operating from the site collects and delivers the hired plant using three no. 
lorries (2no. Class 2 lorries and 1no. 7500kg lorry) however the original permission did not 
allow for these vehicles to be parked on the site overnight (restricted by virtue of condition C6) 
which is now being sought.  The supporting documentation with the application seeks 
permission for the parking of up to 5 vehicles to accord with the terms of an Operating License 
issued.  

b) Parking and highway implications
The Local Highway Authority (LHA) has not raised any objections to the proposed variation.  
Whilst the submitted revised site layout drawing does not show an accurate and true swept 
path demonstration for the vehicles, it is the opinion of the LHA that the vehicles proposed 
could enter and exit the site in a forward gear.  As such, the manoeuvring to/from the site 
would not represent a danger to the safety of the public highway.  

With regards to the relocation of the plant originally stored to the front of the site, the parking of 
the lorries would result in this being repositioned to the rear of the buildings. It is noted that 
confusion has resulted to neighbouring residents as they believe that this would result in the 
parking of plant on the extended paddock area to the rear, contrary to the conditions imposed 
upon planning permission referenced 14/00908/FUL. However, the plant is actually to be 
stored within the confines of the original site. Whilst this area is not of a large size, owing to 
the nature of the business there are very few occasions whereby all the plant is kept on-site (it 
is predominantly kept off-site at the locations it has been hired to). However the Applicant has 
confirmed that all plant can be kept in this area without spilling to other parts of the site. To 
ensure that this is secured, it is considered necessary it impose a new condition which restricts 
the positions for storage and the use of the rear 'paddock' site. 

It is noted that the neighbour to the south (Kirby Meadows Stables) has objected to the 
proposal owing to concerns relating to the tight space for manoeuvring along the shared 
boundary. This concern is noted however the proposal would not materially alter the existing 
situation with regards to movements in the location and there is adequate width. 

In terms of the lorries to be parked, the Applicant has requested that 5 in total be permitted 
albeit only 3 are in use at any one time. This request results from the Operators License 
issued which permits up to 5 vehicles. Given that only 3 are required for the operation of the 

5

25



business, and the limited capacity of the site to accommodate parking for lorries, it is 
considered necessary to impose a limit by way of condition.

On the basis of the above, the proposal would not result in any unacceptable impact to the 
safety of the public highway and is therefore in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012). 

c) Neighbour amenity
The application site is located in close proximity to neighbouring residential dwellings, 
particularly to the front of the site opposite the vehicular access.  It is noted that concern has 
been expressed in respect of disturbance resulting from the proposed variation however the 
proposal seeks only to park those lorries already in use on a daily basis.  The proposal would 
not result in an intensification of the use of the site, particularly if restricted to no more than 
three lorries being parked at any one time.  Accordingly, the proposal would not give rise to 
any additional noise and general disturbance to residential amenity.  

In terms of objections from the owner of Kirby Meadows Stables to the south of the site, it is 
acknowledged that the proposal would result in plant for hire being stored to the rear of the site 
and being manoeuvred along the shared boundary.  However, this situation does not differ 
significantly from the present situation and it is therefore considered that any increase would 
not materially alter the impact to the livestock and horses within the adjacent field.

On this basis, the proposal would not result in any unacceptable impact to the amenities of 
neighbouring occupants, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

d) Other matters
In response to the objections received from local residents, Officers comment as follows:

 Failure to repair an already broken fence - This is not a material planning consideration.  

 Pollution from diesel fumes - The proposal seeks to permit the parking of lorries already 
used within the site and as such, there shall be no increase in vehicles using the site.  

 Unauthorised uses within the site - The current application cannot be determined on the 
basis of unauthorised development either present or in the future.  This matter is to be 
investigated by the City Council's Enforcement Team.

 Heightening of ground level and laying of hardcore - This matter was subject to an 
earlier planning application (reference 14/00908/FUL) which was granted by Members.  
The current application does not propose any further alterations to the site in terms of 
physical development.  

 Inadequate public consultation - The Local Planning Authority has fulfilled its statutory 
duty in respect of public consultation on the application.

6 Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically:
 the proposed variation would not result in any undue impact upon the safety of the public 

highway, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and 
Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012); and

 the proposal would not result in any unacceptable impact upon the amenities of neighbouring 
occupants, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 

6

26



and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Amendment to an existing Planning 
Permission is GRANTED subject to the following conditions:
 

C 1 This permission shall enure only for the benefit of Mr Richard Calton and Mr Charles Milton 
and it shall not enure for the benefit of the land or any other person or persons for the time 
being having an interest therein.  When the use of the site ceases to be occupied by both 
Mr Richard Calton and Mr Charles Milton, the mixed use hereby approved shall cease and 
the site shall revert back to a builder's yard only.  

Reason: Permission would not otherwise have been forthcoming taking account of the 
location within the open countryside and in accordance with Policy CS1 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).

 

C 2 Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, at no time shall more than the following 
schedule of plant be hired from or stored within the site:

6 no. Micro Diggers
6 no. Mini Diggers 
4 no. 2.5 Ton Diggers
4 no. 3.0 Ton Diggers 
2 no. 6.0 Ton Diggers 
2 no. 8.0 Ton Diggers 
2 no. 14.0 Ton Diggers
6 no. 1.0 Ton Dumpers 
2 no. 2.0 Ton Dumpers 
4 no. 3.0 Ton Dumpers 
4 no. 6.0 Ton Dumpers

Reason:  In order to protect the amenity of surrounding residents, in accordance with Policy 
CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012)

 

C 3 Notwithstanding the submitted information, detached rear trailers/bodies and containers 
associated with and from Heavy Goods Vehicles shall not be stored on the site unless in 
accordance with drawing number RTC140805OP (Revision A).

Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenity of the area, in accordance with Policy CS16 
of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

 

C 4 The areas shown for the purposes of parking/turning on drawing number RTC140805OP 
(Revision A) shall be provided and those areas shall be retained for the purpose of the 
parking/turning of vehicles in connection with use as a plant hire business and builder's 
yard in perpetuity.  Notwithstanding this approved drawing, a maximum of three lorries, 
comprising two Class 2 lorries and one 7500kg lorry), shall be parked within the site at any 
one time. 

7

27



Reason: In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 5 The use hereby permitted (including the manoeuvring of vehicles/plant within the site) shall 
not be operated outside the hours of 0800 to 1700 Monday to Friday; 0800 to 1200 on 
Saturdays; and at no time on Sundays or Bank/Public Holidays. 

Reason:  In the interests of the amenities of neighbouring occupants, in accordance with 
Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

 

C 6 The portacabins hereby permitted shall not be occupied or used at any time other than for 
purposes ancillary to the use of the site as plant hire or builder's yard (including the use for 
overnight security  accommodation) and shall not be occupied, leased or rented as a 
separate dwelling.

Reason: The site is not adequate to support a separate dwelling because of its 
inappropriate location within the open countryside and therefore this development is only 
acceptable as ancillary accommodation in accordance with Policies CS1 and CS16 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).

 

C 7 The portacabins hereby permitted shall be removed from the site by 14th September 2017 
and the land re-instated to its former condition. 

Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenity of the area by ensuring that the 
temporary buildings do not become unsightly, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).

 

8

28



29



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning and EP Committee 18 November 2014                                                                Item 2

Application Ref: 14/01631/FUL 

Proposal: Construction of office building and associated external works. Alterations 
to windows and doors at Herlington House and associated external works 
(relating to change of use to flats)

Site: Herlington House, Benyon Grove, Orton Malborne, Peterborough
Applicant: Quest Science Services Ltd

Agent: Scott Whight Architects & Development Consultants

Referred by: Cllr Casey
Reason: The placement of the building in relation to the access way being such 

that it might be struck by vehicles; the location of the proposed bin store; 
the visual impact of the building being located in effect in the centre of a 
car park.

Site visit: 16/9/14

Case officer: Ms L Lewis
Telephone No. 01733 454412
E-Mail: louise.lewis@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation:   Approve

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Herlington House is a small, 1980s office block, near to the Herlington Local Centre.  Vehicular 
access to the site is via Herlington and Benyon Grove, and there are more direct footpath links.  
The vehicular access via Benyon Grove is adopted Highway until it enters the north-east corner of 
a shared car park, used by occupants of Herlington House immediately adjacent, and those using 
the nearby church.

The car park is about 65m long (east to west) and 35m across (north-south).  The ownership of the 
applicant includes about 25m of the length of the car park, and the remainder is associated with 
the church at the other end of the car park.  The church has a private right of way through the 
applicant’s car park.  

Along the north side of the car park runs a footpath, to the immediate north are some houses.  
Along the south side of the car park are some verges, foot-cycleway, and busway.

Beyond the church is a landscaped area, then another footway and more residential.

The proposal is to build a small office building within the area currently used as car park, to revise 
the layout of the car park and provide a path to the office, to change the landscaped area around 
Herlington House to small gardens for the ground floor flats (which are Permitted Development), 
and to construct a new/replacement bin store.

External changes are proposed to the ground floor of Herlington House.  More external doors will 
be inserted, to give front doors to the flats, and areas where the existing office windows will be 
filled in will be timber clad to avoid the awkward clash of new bricks against old.

1

31



2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
14/00836/FUL Conversion of ground floor offices to 8 flats, 

and erection of single storey office building
Withdrawn 07/07/2014

14/01502/PRIOR Conversion of ground floor offices to form 
eight one-bed flats

Approval 
not required

18/09/2014

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP04 - Amenity Provision in New Residential Development 
Proposals for new residential development should be designed and located to ensure that they 
provide for the needs of the future residents.
(NB: As the ground floor flats are to be provided as Permitted Development, no material weight can 
be given to this policy – it is included for information only).

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

2

32



4 Consultations/Representations

Orton Longueville Parish Council 
No comments received

Police Architectural Liaison Officer (16/09/14)
As you are aware I have previously had discussions and met with the applicant concerning this 
application.
If you consider the erection of an office building in the immediate area is acceptable, I can advise 
that the scheme submitted, is probably the better of various options and now adequately 
addresses vulnerability to crime as required under CS16.  
By improving daytime activity and surveillance to the area, it may also provide some crime 
reduction benefits in the immediate vicinity.

Transport & Engineering Services (30/10/14)
No objection.
The proposed car and cycle parking spaces are acceptable.
Please append conditions relating to the provision and retention of the parking and manoeuvring 
space, and requiring a Construction Management Plan.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 189
Total number of responses: 143
Total number of objections: 143
Total number in support: 0

Approx. 139 of these representations are standard letters from users of the church, all making the 
following comments:

 Happy to see more affordable housing within the area
 Church has a vehicular and pedestrian right of way across the area
 It appears that public access …to the church would become greatly restricted, if not 

impossible, for larger vehicles such as coach, funeral hearse, refuse vehicle, tradesman 
vehicle or emergency vehicles such a fire engine

 [The church has] periodic need for coaches to [various events and pilgrimages].  
 [The church] community includes people of limited mobility, the church is used for the 

beginning and end of such trips because of the facilities we can provide, including people 
can wait in shelter with access to toilets

 If emergency vehicles cannot access the church without difficulty I would be worried about 
the health and safety of the parishioners

 The parish covers an extensive area and parishioners travel from areas such as Orton, 
Hampton, Yaxley, Stilton and Sawtry by private vehicle due to the lack of suitable public 
transport, especially on a Sunday

 The car park is already full during the Saturday and Sunday services and the proposed 
plans will exacerbate this issue

 [The church] is a growing community and our 25 year right of way should not be restricted
 The church building is used not only for services at the weekend but for events and 

meetings throughout the week
 The knock-on effect of this development could affect our need to develop as a parish

Members will of course be aware that several of these matters relate to the private right of 
way, which is not a planning matter.

The following comments have been made individually (there is some overlap between material 

3

33



and non-material comments):
 The intended solid construction for the bins is something that no-one would welcome
 It would restrict car park space and access and make life difficult for anyone from the flats 

wanting to dispose of their rubbish.  Surely a bin cupboard by their door would be easier
 Can they not build the office somewhere else instead of on parking spaces
 Have we not convinced them [not clear who] that the site is getting claustrophobic
 Plan encroaches on [church] ground
 No objection to the office building, but the plan will encroach on [church] property
 Rather than building an office building, the owners of Herlington House should perhaps 

focus on improving and enlarging the access roads to improve safety
 This encroachment will prevent coach access to the church and other large vehicles
 Bins and the kerb are permanent obstacles to coaches
 It is not possible for people to wait outside this is a security issue especially for children
 The proposed plan has not been made known to all residents in the immediate vicinity 

(Sellars Grange).  There should be public consultation in the local area.  Many of [the 
church’s] neighbours do not know anything about the plan

 The plan has not been supported by a traffic management survey.  The saga will be 
lengthened if the developer does not do an independent survey to make sure that their plan 
would not stop essential traffic coming in and out of [the church] car park.  Our Land 
Registry title clearly says that we have [a private right of way]

 The original site plan indicates a spacing between car park spaces of 7.875m.  In the 
proposed plan the spacing is shown as 6m.  This must affect vehicle access to the church

 More occupancy means more cars, I have noted at 6.30am with the current occupancy ten 
cars are parked

 My job is to put the [church] dustbin out for collection, how will the lorry negotiate the 
narrowing of the lanes

 Applicant has now said that [church attendees] can no longer park on [the applicant’s] car 
park

 Now that we can’t use their car park do we drive across it or fly over?
 Right of way that has existed for 25 years that the church has will be significantly affected
 Access for all vehicles is needed to go to and from the church entrance without other cars 

behind them blocking them in
 Large vehicles such as emergency vehicles are still likely to have problems and with the 

large number of people who fill the church on regular occasions this cannot be allowed
 If access to the church and removal of parking spaces for the congregation is restricted 

then I object
 The church has been there for 25 years and is used on a regular basis
 Entrance and exit for funeral hearses and marriage cars should be considered
 The plan does not advise parishioners who would deal with the right of access
 The plan of the office has two entrances, front and read.  There is a planting bed which 

belongs to [the church] at the rear of the proposed office

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The applicant has advised as follows:
 their business no longer requires the amount of floor space available within Herlington 

House, and they are seeking to provide a small purpose built office as well as to use the 
ground floor of the existing building as residential

 they would like to remain in the area and continue to provide local employment 
opportunities, but the proposed development is essential to allow them to do this

 Herlington House requires significant financial investment and the application would provide 
a route for this

 there are remaining issues with the car park.  The openness provides opportunity for local 
youths to use the car park as a race track in the evenings and this has led to damage to the 

4

34



existing properties.  Among other things the application seeks to break up the car park to 
prevent such ongoing use and provide properly allocated parking for both the Church and 
the proposed residential uses.

Principle of development
The site is not subject to any official allocation.  The site has always been in mixed office and 
residential use and the proposal will not change that, although it will change the balance.

Site History
The upper floor of Herlington House was built as flats, and the ground floor as offices, following a 
grant of consent in 1988.  The consent was issued by the Development Corporation and the file is 
not available.  

Last year Permitted Development rights were introduced to allow change of use of offices to flats, 
and the applicant has already made the notification regarding the ground floor, which has been 
accepted.  The principle of change of use to flats downstairs is therefore already established and 
this application cannot be used to question that, or to insist on any of the relevant provisions 
required by Policy. 

Notwithstanding this, the applicant has decided to enclose the landscaped area around the building 
and form it into small gardens for the ground floor flats.  These will provide defensible space and 
some privacy for occupants.   The applicant also wishes to make external changes to the building, 
amending doors and windows to a layout and style more suitable for residential occupation. These 
changes do require planning consent and form part of this application.

Given that the new office building is proposed on an area currently used for parking, the car 
parking area is to be slightly re-arranged.  The applicant is providing one car parking space per flat, 
and cycle parking.  These could not be required in connection with the new flats if the applicant 
chose not to provide them.  

Earlier this year an application was submitted, and later withdrawn, for the change of use to flats 
and associated external changes, and for a new office building in an area immediately adjacent to 
the north boundary of the site.  The car park layout was proposed with one access through to the 
church car park, instead of two.  This was objected to, mainly by the church and parishioners, but 
also on the grounds that the location of the office building would have enclosed the public footway, 
and could have blocked the nearby CCTV camera.  The applicant withdrew the application.  It is 
understood that discussions took place with the church in an attempt to come to an agreement, 
and to respect the right of way.

The current application does not include the change of use to flats as that can be implemented as 
Permitted Development.  The applicant could, if this application is refused, implement the change 
of use to flats without having to amend the outside of the building.  In that event, the dedicated car 
and cycle parking, refuse bin store and front gardens would not be provided.

Access and Parking
Access to the site from the adopted Highway would not be affected.

The amended layout of the car park would allow for circulation routes of 5.3-5.58m across the end 
of the site, and 6m along the site.  The 6m would be allowed between the banks of perpendicular 
parking spaces, which is the usual standard.  A comment has been made that these routes would 
be narrower than existing (about 7.5-8m), but there is no reason to object to an amendment which 
would result in a layout meeting the usual standard.

The applicant has shown one car parking space per flat, including both the existing flats and the 
flats which are to be implemented as Permitted Development.  The first version of the layout plan 
showed that one or two of the car parking spaces for the existing flats had been lost, but the layout 

5

35



has been amended to show the full provision.  The LPA could not require that the flats provided 
under Permitted Development are provided with parking spaces.  

There are another 5 car spaces shown, indicated as Office Parking.  As the office building would 
be of about 90 sq m the adopted standard would support a maximum of 3 spaces.  However it is 
not considered necessary to require that any spaces are removed – there is currently an 
overprovision of parking, and the layout makes sensible use of the space available.

Currently there are 31 parking spaces.  One is for each of the 10 flats upstairs, and the remaining 
21 is 6 spaces over the 15 that would be allowed for the ground floor office under the current 
standard.  

Bike stands are shown in front of the office building, where they would be overlooked from within 
the building.  Normally it would be required that staff cycle parking is secure and covered, but this 
would be a very small office, which would have a small staff (6 people), and overall the applicant 
would provide a significant increase in cycle parking, which would be directly overlooked from 
within the building.  

Part of the external amendments to the existing building, to facilitate the COU to flats, would be 
bike storage pods in the individual gardens.  Some visitor cycle racks would be installed to the 
front, near the door which leads to the upstairs flats.  The provision is considered acceptable

Comments have been made by the church, and parishioners, about the impact on their parking 
provision.  It appears that they are accustomed to using the existing office car park on Sundays, 
when the office is closed, although it does not appear that there is any right for them to do so.  As 
all of the car parking spaces within the application site would be required for the flats and office 
building, it is considered appropriate to impose a condition requiring that these spaces are retained 
for that use.  The applicant has suggested that the office spaces could be used by residents (who 
are more likely to have visitors at the evening or weekend) when the office is closed.  This shared 
use, formal or informal, would be supported, and the recommended condition would not prevent it.

The proposal would have no impact at all on the church car park.  The initial plans showed some 
changes to planting beds, and some traffic calming features, just within the area of church 
ownership.  The plan has since been amended and the traffic calming features would be within the 
applicant’s site.

Comments have also been made by the church and parishioners about impact on their private right 
of way.  This is not a planning matter, however the applicant has stated that he has respected the 
right of way.  

One objector has mentioned a traffic management survey.  This is not considered necessary for 
any planning reason, and could not be required for any non-planning reason.

One objector has noted that they have observed 10 cars in the car park at 6.30am.  Given that 
there are 10 flats on the first floor of Herlington House, this is not unreasonable.

Cllr Casey has commented that the location of the building is a concern, as it might be struck be 
vehicles.  The routes proposed, going past each side of the building, would be 6m wide at the 
narrowest, which is wider than some of the nearby streets.  Pedestrians going to either Herlington 
House or the new building should not need to walk along these routes past the building, and 
pedestrians going to the church have a direct route along the footways, so vehicles should not 
have to be driven around people walking.

The building is proposed to be built along the edge of a planting bed just within the church car 
park.  The applicant originally proposed to amend the planting bed, to bring the edge of the bed in 
line with the side of the new building, but the plan has since been amended to remove any 
changes being proposed outside the applicant’s ownership.

6

36



Any building close to an area where vehicles are manoeuvring could be struck be vehicles, but this 
would almost always be the fault of the driver.  It is reasonable to expect drivers not to drive into 
buildings.  The layout shows acceptable manoeuvring spaces according to usual standards, and 
none of the objectors has provided any evidence to suggest that these standards are not 
appropriate in this case. 

The car park, both sections, is currently very open and the applicant has advised that it is used by 
local youths for unauthorised driving.  If the changes would discourage this, and would make 
drivers pay more attention and slow down, then the changes should be viewed in a positive light.

The Local Highway Authority has not objected to the proposal.

It is recommended that a construction management plan is required by condition, in order to 
ensure that space is made available for construction vehicles to park clear of the Highway.  

Proposed new office building - Design
This would be set at the west end of the application site, adjacent to a planting bed.  The building 
has been designed to fit in with the existing building, with a gablet detail to the roof and horizontal 
windows.  Materials, which would be agreed by condition, would be specified to match.

A concern has been raised about the location of the new building, in respect of the visual impact.  
Although it is unusual to put a new building in the centre of an existing car park it is not 
unacceptable as a matter of principle, and the applicant has designed the changes to the site to 
allow a footpath to the door and some new lighting.  The building would be much smaller than 
Herlington House and the church, and will reinforce the two separate uses.  

Planning consent can only be refused if harm is caused, and Officers do not consider that this is 
the case.  The development will increase the use of the site, will improve natural surveillance and 
perhaps discourage anti-social behaviour, and will, overall, provide a local business with purpose-
built offices to enable their continued presence and operation; and will provide additional much-
needed residential accommodation. 

A comment has been made regarding the two “entrances” to the proposed new office building.  
One of these, to the rear, is designed as a fire exit.  It would open out onto the planting bed 
belonging to the church, and the church could, if they chose, refuse permission for occupants of 
the office to cross their land in the event that they needed to escape from a fire blocking the main 
front doors.  

The provision of fire exits is a building control matter, not a planning matter, however the Building 
Control Surveyor, when asked for clarification, advised that under the Building Regulations this fire 
exit would probably not be required.  If Members consider it necessary, a condition could be 
imposed preventing any door in the rear elevation.

Impact on nearby residents
There will be no impact on existing residents.  Although the proposed new office building has 
windows on three sides, the end elevation facing north, towards existing dwellings on Benyon 
Grove, would be blank (this end of the building would accommodate the toilets).  The separation 
distance would be about 15m.  There would be no shading or overbearing impact.

The separation distance from the new office building to the original building would be about 20m.  
The normal window to window separation distance is 21m, but this more generally refers to views 
from upstairs windows.  In this case, the proposed ground floor flats would have windows facing 
the public realm, and any views out of the new office building would not materially affect privacy to 
these residents.

Other residential properties are considerably further away and would be unaffected.

7

37



None of the neighbours adjacent the site boundary have objected.  

Security
The Police Architectural Liaison Officer (PALO) has been involved in the design of the proposal.  At 
the time of the first application there was a concern that the proposed building might block the view 
of a CCTV camera near the site entrance, but the proposed building now is in a different position.   
In respect of this application the PALO has advised that this is the better of various options, and 
that the improvement to daytime activity and surveillance might provide some nearby crime 
reduction benefits.

It is considered that the scheme adequately addressed vulnerability to crime as required by Policy 
CS16.

Bin store
Currently there is an un-roofed bin store adjacent to the north-west corner of Herlington House (a 
few metres from the end of the adopted Highway).  This store is of brick with timber gates.  It is 
proposed to remove this, incorporate the area into one of the new gardens to the flats, and build a 
new, fully enclosed and roofed, bin store on the other side of the site entrance, close to the end of 
the Highway.  In this location it would be close enough to the flats for residents to use conveniently 
and for the refuse collectors to get to the bins easily.  

The applicant has advised that the bin store is being relocated at the request of both the police and 
local residents.  The relocation eliminates the potential for anyone to use it to gain access to the 
main roof, and eliminates risk from any fire that might be started.

The area where the store is proposed is currently laid out as parking spaces, so having a building 
on this area should not unduly affect movement.  A kerb line is shown on the plans which would 
allow an area for people to stand while using the bin store. 

It is clear from tyre marks, just visible on the car park surface, that some drivers cut the corner and 
drive across the parking space when it is not occupied.  The plans show adequate space for the 
manoeuvring of vehicles, and the proposed bin store should not get in the way.

The bin store is shown with 1m wide roller shutter doors to each of several compartments.  This is 
not the most attractive of designs, but is functional and would be an improvement on the existing 
bin storage area.  One neighbour has commented that each flat should have a bin cupboard 
outside their houses, but these cupboards would have to be large enough for three wheelie bins, 
as each ground floor flat has a garden, and they would not serve the upstairs flats.  An area would 
also have to be provided at the edge of the site for the bins to be placed on collection day.  It is 
more efficient for one-bedroom and studio flats to have communal bins.

Although the bin storage cannot be required for the flats that are Permitted Development, it is 
considered that the bin store would meet the requirements of Policy PP4.

Sustainability
This development falls under the trigger point for an explicit contribution to policy CS10.  

Section 106
This development falls under the trigger point for a contribution under POIS.

Non-planning matters
Normally these would not be reported in any detail, and as Members will be aware that the LPA 
cannot consider them.  However, given the volume of objections some comments will be 
addressed.  Officer’s response is in italics.

8

38



Access to church for larger vehicles.  The church has a private right of way across the applicant’s 
land.  The applicant has stated that he has respected this, and there is no evidence to suggest 
otherwise.  Even if there were evidence, the LPA would not be able to take this into account.  
Emergency service vehicles, if they need to get right up to the church, would either follow the right 
of way or drive along the foot/cycleway/busway and/or verge.  Coaches would have to wait on the 
Highway if they could not get into the site via the right of way.  Refuse collection would have to 
take place from the Highway, if collection vehicles could not enter the site.

People need to wait in the church.  People can still wait in the church.  If coaches cannot get right 
to the church door using the right of way then people will have to walk or be taken the 70m or so to 
the nearest carriageway, along the wide and direct foot/cycleway, once the coach has arrived.

Loss of parking for parishioners/church; car park is already full during services, this will exacerbate 
the issues.  It appears that parishioners are accustomed to parking on the applicant’s land.  
Whether this has been with or without permission is not clear.  In either case, the proposed 
development would not affect the church car park, and so would not reduce the parking area that 
the church should be using.

Owners of Herlington House should focus on improving and enlarging the access roads to improve 
safety.  The access roads do not need to be enlarged.  They, and the routes through the car park, 
would be adequate as proposed.  Laying out the site to include more traffic calming, discourage 
unauthorised use, remove the opportunity for the site to be used as a race track by local youths, 
improve natural surveillance – all of these factors will improve safety.

There should have been more public consultation.  Consultation was carried out in accordance 
with the statutory requirements.  An objector has commented that none of the churches neighbours 
was aware of the plan – it should be noted that letters were sent to neighbours of the application 
site, as required.  

6 Conclusions

The proposal is considered acceptable for the following reasons:

The proposal will not have any detrimental impact on neighbour amenity
Adequate car and cycle parking will be provided for the proposed uses
The proposed building has been designed to be in keeping with the character of the area
The proposal includes measures to improve the security of the area.

The proposal is therefore in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
and Policies PP2, PP3, PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 
subject to the following conditions:

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

C 2 No construction shall take place until details of the following materials have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The details submitted for 

9

39



approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, the product type, colour (using 
BS4800) and reference number. The development shall not be carried out except in 
accordance with the approved details.
 - Walling and roofing materials to the new office building and bin store (including samples)
 - Windows and doors to the new office building
 - Windows, doors and cladding to be used in the ground floor alterations to Herlington 
House
 - Roller shutters to bin store
 - Railings to private gardens
 - Cycle storage pods and cycle stands.

Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

C 3 Prior to the commencement of development, a Construction Management Plan shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plan.
The plan shall include:
 - Position of temporary parking for contractor's vehicles
 - Position of parking, turning and loading/unloading for contractor's vehicles
 - Location of contractors compound/storage area/welfare facilities
 - Wheel cleaning facilities
 - Hours of work.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and residential amenity in accordance with 
Policies CS14 and CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD.

C 4 Prior to the new office building being brought into use, car and cycle parking shall be 
provided as shown on drawing 02 Revision A (Proposed site plan/block plan).  The car and 
cycle parking shall be retained thereafter for use in connection with the occupation of the 
flats and offices within the site.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policies PP12 and PP13 of 
the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

C 5 Prior to the new office building being brought into use, external lighting shall be provided in 
accordance with details that have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of safety and the prevention of crime in accordance with Policy 
CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD.

 

10

40



Planning and EP Committee 18 November 2014                                                                 Item 3

COVERING REPORT TO EXEMPT REPORT which is not for publication by Virtue of paragraphs 1, 
2 & 3 of Part 1 of   Schedule 12A of the  Local Government Act 1972 

Enforcement Action in Stanground Central Ward

REFERRED: HEAD OF DEVELOPMENT & CONSTRUCTION
CONTACT OFFICER: NICHOLAS HARDING 
TELEPHONE: 01733 454441
E-MAIL: NICHOLAS.HARDING@PETERBOROUGH.GOV.UK

1 SUMMARY

The committee is asked to consider enforcement action in relation to development that has not taken 
place in accordance with planning conditions in accordance with section Part 3  Section 2.5.4.3 of the 
City Council constitution.

2 NATURE OF EXEMPT INFORMATION

This report contains an exempt annex NOT FOR PUBLICATION in accordance with paragraphs 1,2 and 
3 of Schedule 12A of Part 1 of the Local Government Act 1972. The public interest test has been applied 
to the information contained within the exempt annex and it is considered that the need to retain the 
information as exempt outweighs the public interest in disclosing it. Disclosing the information is likely to 
identify an individual or company where prosecution is being considered.

REASON

Disclosing the information is likely to identify an individual or company where 
prosecution is being considered.

41

mailto:julie.robshaw@peterborough.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

43

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

45

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

49

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM No. 6

18 NOVEMBER 2014 PUBLIC REPORT

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Cllr Peter Hiller, Cabinet Member for Planning and Housing 
Services

Contact Officer(s): Nick Harding, Head of Development and Construction Tel. 454441

LOCAL GOVERNMENT OMBUDSMAN  REPORT – 157-161 FLETTON AVENUE 
(PALACE GARDENS)

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM : Director of Growth and Regeneration

1.  That the Ombudsman’s report be noted.

2.  That the actions proposed to address the Ombudsman’s report be noted.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Committee following receipt of a report from the Local 
Government Ombudsman (LGO) report (enclosed at Appendix 1) that investigated a 
complaint regarding the enforcement of landscaping conditions at the development at 157-
161 Fletton Avenue (Palace Gardens).

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to share with Committee the LGO report and the proposed 
actions to be taken to address the issues identified.

2.2 This report is for the Committee to consider the report pursuant to its Terms of Reference 
in paragraphs 2.5.5 of part 3, section 2 of the Constitution. 

3. TIMESCALE 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If Yes, date for relevant 
Cabinet Meeting

n/a

4. MAIN BODY OF REPORT 

4.1 The LGO investigated whether or not officers had appropriately dealt with a complaint that 
the development had not provided the soft landscaping and that the Council had not 
appropriately dealt with this.

4.2 In summary, when the complaint was received, the matter was investigated by officers.  
The investigation found that:

a. Whilst the approved layout plan (Appendix 2) indicated that soft landscaping would be 
provided, the wording of the condition was such that it did not say that soft landscaping 
must be provided (Appendix 3).

b. Notwithstanding item (a), the alternative landscaping being provided which was hard 
and not soft, was acceptable.

51



4.3 On the basis of the above the complainant was informed that there was no breach of 
condition and that no further action would be taken.

4.4 The LGO concluded that there was fault in that:

a. There was a breach of condition.

b. The condition was poorly written and not fit for purpose.

4.5 The LGO’s findings (para 35 to 38 in Appendix 1) are accepted and, in response to this, the 
following actions are proposed to be taken:

1. Revision to the wording of standard landscaping conditions so that they comply with 
National Planning Policy Framework guidance.

2. That landscaping conditions are only used where the development would otherwise be 
unacceptable.

3. That where layout plans show landscaping which is not necessary to requirements that 
these are either removed from plans or that a note is added to the permission to make it 
clear that the landscaping has not been approved.

4.6 An apology has been issued to the complainant and this report has been issued to them.

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 None

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES

6.1 That Committee note the LGO report and the proposed actions to address the issues 
identified.

7. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 The development has had a history of legal challenges and complaints and therefore it is 
appropriate for the matter to be brought to the notice of the Committee. 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 Status quo.

9. IMPLICATIONS

9.1 LEGAL
The proposed actions will result in revisions to the way landscape conditions are to be 
applied and reduce the risk of future challenges.

FINANCIAL
None

CROSS SERVICE IMPLICATIONS
None

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985)

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – LGO Report

52



Appendix 2 – Approved Layout Plan
Appendix 3 – Landscape Condition

 

53



This page is intentionally left blank



1

01 October 2014

Complaint reference: 
13 019 585

Complaint against:
Peterborough City Council

The Ombudsman’s final decision
Summary: Mr A complains the Council has failed to enforce planning 
conditions on a development of flats opposite his home. The Council 
was wrong to tell Mr A there was no breach of condition to plant trees 
and shrubs. The Council has now considered whether to enforce the 
condition, but decided this is not expedient. The Ombudsman does 
not have the legal power to intervene in this decision. 

The complaint
1. Mr A complained the Council, as local planning authority (LPA), failed to enforce 

planning conditions on a development of flats opposite his home. In particular, the 
developer did not discharge the following two pre occupancy conditions:

• ‘No apartment shall be occupied until full details of all proposed tree and shrub 
planting, and the proposed times of planting, have been approved in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority, and all tree and shrub planting shall be 
carried out in accordance with those details and at those times.

Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenity of the area.

• No apartment shall be occupied until space has been laid out within the site for 
a minimum of 14 bicycle (sic) to be parked, and that area shall not thereafter 
be used for any purpose other than the parking of cycles’.

The Ombudsman’s role and powers
2. The Ombudsman investigates complaints of injustice caused by maladministration 

and service failure. I have used the word fault to refer to these. The Ombudsman 
cannot question whether a council’s decision is right or wrong simply because the 
complainant disagrees with it. She must consider whether there was fault in the 
way the decision was reached. (Local Government Act 1974, section 34(3))

How I considered this complaint
3. I have considered:

• Correspondence between Mr A and the Council

• Photographs of the street scene

• Council’s planning documents

• Minutes of the Planning Committee

• The Government’s National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

APPENDIX 1

55



    

Final Decision 2

• The Government’s National Planning Policy Framework, 2012 (NPPF).

4. I have shared my provisional view with both parties and considered the comments 
received.

What I found
Factual background

5. Mr A complained to the Council in January 2013. People were moving into a new 
block of flats opposite his home before the pre occupancy conditions about 
landscaping and planting had been implemented and discharged.

6. The Council replied that it expected the developer to submit the landscaping 
scheme within a few weeks.

7. Mr A complained again in October 2013.

8. In October 2013 the Council told the developer it was starting enforcement action 
because the rear patio area of the block was ‘still in a bit of a state’ and there was 
no cycle parking. 

9. The Council told Mr A: 

• no enforcement action was needed for trees and shrubs because the 
developer had decided not to plant any

• the condition did not require trees and shrubs to be planted, only for prior 
approval of any planting that did occur

• the developer had indicated he did not wish to plant any trees or shrubs - the 
nature of the development with its associated density, limited space for 
planting and tenure / client group was such hard landscaping was more 
appropriate and it could not be said that without tree and shrub planting the 
development is unacceptable

• areas marked as grassed on the original plan were mainly gravelled, the 
Council found this acceptable

• the yard area had not yet been finished to standard and it would take 
enforcement action on this.

10. The Council and developer agreed the cycle storage and the developer ordered this 
in December 2013.

11. Mr A made a formal complaint in December 2013 about the failure to plant trees, 
shrubs and grass.

12. Mr A disagreed with the Council’s view about the condition not requiring planting of 
trees and shrubs. The approved drawings clearly marked trees and shrubs and 
the condition refers to "details" of these. In Mr A’s view planting was therefore not 
optional as the Council suggested. 

13. Mr A said the absence of a properly planted frontage to the scheme blights the area 
and is out of keeping with the existing housing. 

14. The Council’s complaint response repeated its view there was no condition 
requiring planting. While no application to discharge the condition about cycle 
storage had yet been made, the cycle storage was on order. The Council was 
enforcing the developer re-do the walls and floor of the rear patio area. 

APPENDIX 1

56



    

Final Decision 3

15. The Council told the Ombudsman:

• The work on the rear patio was delayed due to poor weather over the winter 
but it, and the cycle storage, is now complete.

• The Council accepts the plan shows low level shrubs and trees and so the 
public expectation would be there would be planting. The wording of the 
condition and the plan together would suggest planting was required.

• The Council had not intended to require planting but rather to prevent the 
wrong species of tree, in the wrong area, which could cause problems for 
occupiers or neighbours.

• The way the condition is worded it could be met by planting for a short period 
of time, not in perpetuity.

• The Council accepts it reached the ‘wrong conclusion on whether there was a 
breach of condition’.

• The Council says while it did not consider whether there was a breach of 
condition, it did consider if enforcement was possible and provided Mr A with a 
reasoned decision.

• The Council does not consider the lack of planting makes the development 
unacceptable. It also considers any prosecution for failure to comply with 
enforcement action would be likely to fail and not be in the public interests.

16. In response to my provisional view, Mr A has provided the Planning Committee’s 
minutes. These show the developer’s planning consultant told the Committee 
‘there would be grass and shrubs on the frontage and trees in appropriate areas’. 
The minutes show the Committee discussed concerns about the impact of the 
scheme on the street scene and that the amount of private amenity space was 
substandard (in breach of policy H16).

Planning Law and Guidance
17. NPPF states the purpose of planning conditions is to ‘enhance the quality of 

development and enable development proposals to proceed where it would 
otherwise have been necessary to refuse planning permission, by mitigating the 
adverse effects of the development’. 

18. The NPPF says planning conditions should only be imposed where they are:

• necessary

• relevant to planning and

• to the development to be permitted

• enforceable

• precise

• reasonable in all other respects.

This is known as the six tests. (NPPF, paragraph 206)

19. Local Planning Authorities have powers to enforce planning law under the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 Part VII. The powers are discretionary. 

20. Generally, a Council is expected to take enforcement action where serious harm to 
local public amenity is being caused.

APPENDIX 1

57



    

Final Decision 4

21. In deciding whether to take enforcement action, the Council will need to consider:

• the type of condition

• how well the condition meets the legal tests

• the planning harm (as now perceived)

• what it wants to achieve and whether under-enforcing will resolve the situation.

Analysis
22. There was delay by the Council in ensuring the developer completed the work on 

the rear patio and cycle storage. 2013/14 was a mild winter so this does not 
adequately explain the delay. The developer did not complete the work until well 
into 2014. Mr A however does not have a view of the rear patio or storage area. 
While there was fault, I find there is no personal injustice to Mr A from the delay.

23. Mr A is personally affected by the view of the block of flats as he lives opposite. Mr 
A has provided photographs which show the houses on the street are of a more 
traditional style and mostly screened with mature trees and shrubs. The flats are 
modern and have no landscaping to screen or soften their impact.

24. I agree with Mr A a condition to plant trees and shrubs was imposed. The following 
evidence supports Mr A’s interpretation:

• The developer told the planning committee it would plant trees and shrubs. 
This is not equivocal. The committee passed the application and drafted the 
conditions on this assumption. 

• The Council told Mr A (in response to his complaint) that it anticipated 
receiving a landscaping plan soon. It did not at that point say landscaping was 
optional.

• The planning permission states the reason for the condition about trees and 
shrubs as: ‘to protect and safeguard the amenity of the area’. If the Council’s 
only concern was with choice of species to protect residents and immediate 
neighbours it should have worded the planning harm in these terms. The 
suggestion is of a wider public harm. 

• This description of planning harm fits with the concerns reflected in the 
committee minutes about the private amenity areas being substandard and 
impact on the street scene.

• The developer’s plan showed trees and shrubs. 

25. I am not persuaded the committee members intended landscaping to be optional.

26. The assurance by the developer that trees and shrubs would be planted perhaps 
led the committee to be less precise in its wording than it could have been. 

27. I recognise the Council disagrees with this interpretation of the condition wording. If 
a condition is open to different interpretations this signals the wording is not 
precise enough and would fail the six tests. Imprecise or ambiguous conditions 
may also impact on the ability of Councils to bring successful prosecutions. 

28. In response to the Ombudsman’s investigation, the Council now agrees it was 
wrong to tell Mr A there was no breach of condition.

29. Where a planning condition is breached a Council must decide whether it is 
expedient to take enforcement action. Expediency is guided by whether the 
breach causes unacceptable harm to amenity.

APPENDIX 1

58



    

Final Decision 5

30. The Council has considered whether to enforce the developer replacing grassed 
areas with gravel. It has decided gravel is an acceptable alternative due to the 
density and tenure / client group. The Ombudsman has no legal power to 
intervene in the professional judgement of Council Officers.  The gravel areas are 
not visible from Mr A’s house and cause him no personal injustice.

31. During the course of the Ombudsman’s investigation, the Council said it will not 
enforce the condition for planting trees and shrubs because:

• The lack of planting does not make the appearance of the development in the 
street scene unacceptable.

• The prospects of any successful prosecution are low and not in the public 
interests.

32. Conditions should only be attached to planning permissions where they are judged 
to be necessary and the permission would not be granted without the condition 
(NPPF six tests). If the Council considered the development acceptable without 
planting it should not have imposed a condition to plant trees and shrubs. If a 
condition is not necessary, it fails the six tests.

33. While the Council told Mr A at an early stage of his complaint it found the lack of 
planting acceptable, I do not agree this was a ‘reasoned decision’. The Council 
did not explain why the position had apparently changed from that of the 
Committee. The Council only explained its rationale about prospects of a 
successful prosecution during the course of this investigation. This was fault. 

34. Mr A has however now had an explanation why the Council will not take 
enforcement action. The Ombudsman cannot intervene in this decision. 

Final decision
35. The Council was at fault in the way it considered Mr A’s complaint. It was wrong to 

say there was no condition to plant trees and shrubs.

36. The Council was at fault in imposing a condition which did not meet the six tests 
(NPPF).

37. The fault by the Council has now been remedied as the Council has recognised a 
breach of condition did occur. 

38. The Council has decided not to take enforcement action. The Ombudsman has no 
legal power to intervene in this decision. 

Investigator’s final decision on behalf of the Ombudsman 

APPENDIX 1

59



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2

61



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3

LANDSCAPE CONDITION

Planning condition placed on the planning permission:

 No apartment shall be occupied until full details of all proposed tree and shrub planting 
and the times of planting have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and all tree and shrub planting shall be carried out in accordance with those details at all 
times.

REASON:   In order to protect and safeguard the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 
LNE 10 of the Peterborough Local Plan (First Replacement).

63



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM No. 7

18TH NOVEMBER 2014 PUBLIC REPORT

Director: Kim Sawyer, Director of Governance
Contact Officer(s): Phillip McCourt, Interim Head of Legal and Governance

Ruth Lea, Planning and Highways Lawyer
Tel. 452576
Tel. 452615

ADOPTION OF THE MODEL COUNCIL MEMBERS PLANNING CODE OR PROTOCOL 

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Director of Governance Deadline date: N/A 

1. That the Model Council Members Planning Code or Protocol annexed to this report is 
adopted by the Planning and Environmental Protection Committee and thereby replacing the 
relevant paragraphs in the Constitution which shall be renumbered accordingly.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Committee on behalf of the Director of Governance in order 
to introduce and propose for adoption the updated Model Council Members Planning Code 
or Protocol which has been produced by Lawyers in Local Government (LLG) and 
published in April 2014, a copy of which is annexed to this report as Appendix 1 (“the Model 
Code”).

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with the Model Code to ensure best 
practice in the conduct of decision making by members of the Planning and Environmental 
Protection Committee, and to assist all members in dealing with planning matters.

2.2 Part 5 of Section 4 of the Council’s Constitution provides the current Code of Conduct for 
Members and Officers Dealing with Planning Proposals. This report asks Committee to 
consider replacing that code of conduct with the national Model Code which has been 
produced by Lawyers in Local Government and sets out best practice for members in the 
conduct of decision making by members of the planning and environmental protection 
committee.

2.3 The aim of the Model Code is to ensure that in the planning process there are no grounds 
for suggesting that a decision has been biased, partial or not well founded in any way.

3. TIMESCALE 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If Yes, date for relevant 
Cabinet Meeting

n/a

4. BACKGROUND INFORMATION

4.1 The Members’ Planning Code of Good Practice was originally prepared in response to a 
series of successful challenges concerning themselves with local planning authorities and 
the Members’ conduct or conflicts of interests.  It replaced a number of individual and 
sometimes haphazard approaches in individual councils at the time.

65



4.2 The Model Code takes into account the update to the Nolan Principles and commentary 
from the Committee on standards in public life, the changes in the approach to codes of 
conduct and also to predetermination introduced by the Localism Act 2011 and the guide 
on ‘Openness and transparency on personal interests’ published by the Department for 
Communities and Local Government 2013.

4.3 This Model Code applies to members at all times when involving themselves in the 
planning process.

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The drafting of the Model Code was subject to consultation and comment from a number of 
local authorities through the machinery of the Association of Council Secretaries and 
Solicitors (now LLG), the Local Government Association, the Local Government 
Ombudsman and the Planning Officers Society, supported by leading planning law firms 
and Queens Counsel.
 

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES

6.1 It is anticipated that the Committee will adopt to the Model Code to ensure that in the 
planning process there are no grounds for suggesting that a decision has been biased, 
partial or not well founded in any way, and to ensure best practice at all times.

7. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 Recommendations:

1) That the Model Council Members Planning Code or Protocol annexed to this report is 
adopted by the Planning and Environmental Protection Committee 

7.2 Reasons for recommendations:

1) The Model Code provides best practice for members at all times when involving 
themselves in the planning process.

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1  That the Model Code is not adopted.

8.2 It is recommended that the Model Code is adopted to ensure best practice in the planning 
process.

9. IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Legal Implications

The Council must act in accordance with the legislative requirements when dealing with 
planning matters and the Model Code provides best practice to ensure compliance.  
Section 37 of the Local Government Act 2000 requires the Council to keep its Constitution 
up to date.   Section 25 of the Localism Act, 2011 introduces provisions for dealing with 
allegations of bias or pre-determination or matters that otherwise raise an issue about the 
validity of a decision, whether the decision-maker(s) had or appeared to have a closed 
mind (to any extent) when making the decision. 

9.2 Financial Implications

There are no financial implications associated with the adoption of the Model Code.

9.3 Cross-service Implications

66



The Model Code assists officers in the Planning, Governance and Legal Services to work 
with members within the planning process.

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985)

Part 5, Section 4 of the Council’s Constitution 

67



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

The Model Code

MODEL COUNCIL 
MEMBERS’ PLANNING CODE or PROTOCOL

Background

The Members’ Planning Code of Good Practice was originally prepared in response to a 
series of succesful court challenges concerning themselves with local planning 
authorities and the Members’ conduct or conflicts of interests. It replaced what was a 
number of individual and sometimes haphazard approaches in individual councils at the 
time.  

The drafting of the model code was subject to consultation and comment from a number 
of local authorities through the machinery of the Association of Council Secretaries and 
Solicitors (now LLG), the Local Government Association, the Local Government 
Ombudsman, Audit Commission and from firms of solicitors or counsel acting on their 
behalf.

This 2013 update takes into account the update to the Seven Principles of Public Life 
(the ‘Nolan principles’) and commentary from the Committee on standards in public life, 
the changes in the approach to codes of conduct and also to predetermination 
introduced by the Localism Act 2011 and the guide on ‘Openness and transparency on 
personal interests’ published by the Department for Communities and Local Government 
2013.

For further reading please refer to ‘Probity in Planning’ issued by the Local Government 
Association.

Introduction

The aim of this Code: to ensure that in the planning process there are no grounds for 
suggesting that a decision has been biased, partial or not well founded in any way.

One of the key purposes of the planning system is to regulate the development and use 
of land in the public interest. Your role as a Member of the Planning Authority is to 
make planning decisions openly, impartially, with sound judgement and for justifiable 
reasons. You are also a  democratically accountable decision-taker who had been elected 
to provide and pursue policies.  You are entitled to be predisposed to make planning 
decisions in accordance with your political views and policies provided that you have 
considered all material considerations and have given fair consideration to relevant points 
raised.

When the Code applies: this code applies to Members at all times when involving 
themselves in the planning process. (This includes when taking part in the  decision 

69



APPENDIX 1

making meetings of the Council in exercising the functions of the Planning Authority or 
when involved on less formal occasions, such as meetings with officers or the public and 
consultative meetings). It applies as equally to planning enforcement matters or site 
specific policy issues as it does to planning applications. 

If you have any doubts about the application of this Code to your own 
circumstances you should seek advice early, from the Monitoring Officer or one of 
his or her staff, and preferably well before any meeting takes place.

1. Relationship to the Members’ Code of Conduct

 Do apply the rules in the Members’ Code of Conduct first, which must always be 
complied with. This is both the rules on interest, Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
(DPIs) and any other interests identified by your Authority, and the general rules 
giving effect to the seven principles of public life: selflessness, integrity, objectivity, 
accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 

 Do then apply the rules in this Members’ Planning Code, which seek to explain and 
supplement the Members’ Code of Conduct and the law on decsion making for the 
purposes of planning control. If you do not abide by this Members’ Planning Code, 
you may put:

- the Council at risk of proceedings on the legality of the related decision or 
maladministration; and 

- yourself at risk of being named in a report made to the Council or, if the failure 
is also likely to be a breach of the interest provisions of Localism Act 2011, a 
complaint being made to the police to consider criminal proceedings.

2. Development Proposals and Personal Interests 

 Do disclose the existence and nature of your interest as required by your Authority’s 
Member Code of Conduct.

 Do take into account when approaching a decision that the Principle of Integrity is 
defined in terms that 

“Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under 
any obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence 
them in their work. They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must 
declare and resolve any interests and relationships”. 

It is therefore advisable that you:

- Don’t seek or accept any preferential treatment, or place yourself in a position 
that could lead the public to think you are receiving preferential treatment, 
because of your position as a councillor. This would include, where you have a 
disclosable or other personal conflict of interest in a proposal, using your position 
to discuss that proposal with officers or Members when other members of the 
public would not have the same opportunity to do so.

- Do note that you are not prevented from seeking to explain and justify a proposal 
in which you may have a conflict of interest to an appropriate officer, in person or 
in writing, but that your role as a councillor may place additional limitations on 

70



APPENDIX 1

you in representing the proposal in which you have a personal interest.

- Do notify the Monitoring Officer in writing where it is clear to you that you have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or other personal conflict of interest and note that:
· you should send the notification no later than submission of that application 

where you can; 
· the proposal will always be reported to the Committee as a main item and not 

dealt with by officers under delegated powers; 
· you must not get involved in the processing of the application; and 
· it is advisable that you employ an agent to act on your behalf in respect of the 

proposal when dealing with officers and in public speaking at Committee.

3. Fettering Discretion in the Planning Process 
(natural justice, predisposition and predetermination)

 Don’t fetter your discretion by approaching the decision with a closed mind. 

 Do be aware that in your role as an elected Member you are entitled, and are often 
expected, to have expressed views on planning issues and that these comments 
have an added measure of protection under the Localism Act 2011.  

 Do keep at the front of your mind that, when you come to make the decision, you 

- are entitled to have and to have expressed your own views on the matter, 
provided you are prepared to reconsider your position in the light of all the 
evidence and arguments;

- must keep an open mind and hear all of the evidence before you, both the 
officers’ presentation of the facts and their advice as well as the arguments from 
all sides; 

- are not required to cast aside views on planning policy you held when seeking 
election or otherwise acting as a Member, in giving fair consideration to points 
raised;

- are only entitled to take account a material consideration and must disregard 
considerations irrelevant to the question and legal context at hand; and 

- are to come to a decision after giving what you feel is the right weight to those 
material considerations. 

 Do be aware that you can be biased where the Council is the landowner, developer 
or applicant if you have acted as, or could be perceived as being, a chief advocate 
for the proposal. (This is more than a matter of membership of both the proposing 
and planning determination committees, but that through your significant personal 
involvement in preparing or advocating the proposal you will be, or perceived by the 
public as being, no longer able to act impartially or to determine the proposal purely 
on its planning merits.)

 Do consider yourself able to take part in the debate on a proposal when acting as part 
of a consultee body (where you are also a member of the parish council, for example, 
or both a district/borough and county councillor), provided: 
- the proposal does not substantially effect the well being or financial standing of 

the consultee body;
- you make it clear to the consultee body that:

71



APPENDIX 1

· your views are expressed on the limited information before you only; 
· you must reserve judgement and the independence to make up your own 

mind on each separate proposal, based on your overriding duty to the whole 
community and not just to the people in that area, ward or parish, as and 
when it comes before the Committee and you hear all of the relevant 
information; and

- you will not in any way commit yourself as to how you or others may vote when 
the proposal comes before the Committee.

 Do explain that you do not intend to speak and vote as a member of the Committee 
because you will be perceived as having judged (or you reserve the right to judge) 
the matter elsewhere, so that this may be recorded in the minutes. (Use the 
disclosure form provided for disclosing interests.) 

 Do take the opportunity to exercise your separate speaking rights as a Ward/Local 
Member (where this is granted by the authority’s standing orders or by the consent 
from the Chair and Committee) where you have represented your views or those of 
local electors and fettered your discretion, but do not have a disclosable or other 
personal conflict of interest. Where you do:
- advise the proper officer or Chair that you wish to speak in this capacity before 

commencement of the item;
- remove yourself from the seating area for members of the Committee for the 

duration of that item; and
- ensure that your actions are recorded.

4. Contact with Applicants, Developers and Objectors

 Do refer those who approach you for planning, procedural or technical advice to 
officers.

 Don’t agree to any formal meeting with applicants, developers or groups of objectors 
where you can avoid it. Where you feel that a formal meeting would be useful in 
clarifying the issues, you should seek to arrange that meeting yourself through a 
request to the [Development Control Manager] to organise it. The officer(s) will then 
ensure that those present at the meeting are advised from the start that the 
discussions will not bind the authority to any particular course of action, that the 
meeting is properly recorded on the application file and the record of the meeting is 
disclosed when the application is considered by the Committee.

 Do otherwise:
- follow the Authority’s rules on lobbying;
- consider whether or not it would be prudent in the circumstances to make notes 

when contacted; and
- report to the [Development Control Manager] any significant contact with the 

applicant and other parties, explaining the nature and purpose of the contacts 
and your involvement in them, and ensure that this is recorded on the planning 
file [a profoma has been supplied to you for this purpose].

In addition in respect of presentations by applicants/developers:

 Don’t attend a planning presentation without requesting an officer to be present. 

72



APPENDIX 1

 Do ask relevant questions for the purposes of clarifying your understanding of the 
proposals.

 Do remember that the presentation is not part of the formal process of debate and 
determination of any subsequent application, this will be carried out by the 
appropriate Committee of the planning authority.

 Do be aware that a presentation is a form of lobbying and, whilst you may express 
any view on the merits or otherwise of the proposal presented, you should never 
state how you or other Members would intend to vote at a committee.

5. Lobbying of Councillors 

 Do explain to those lobbying or attempting to lobby you that, whilst you can listen to 
what is said, it may subsequently prejudice your impartiality, and therefore your 
ability to participate in the Committee’s decision making, to make any sort of promise 
to vote one way or another or such a firm point of view that it amounts to the same 
thing.

 Do remember that your overriding duty is to the whole community not just to the 
people in your [ward][division] and, taking account of the need to make decisions 
impartially, that you should not improperly favour, or appear to improperly favour, 
any person, company, group or locality.

 Don’t accept gifts or hospitality from any person involved in or affected by a planning 
proposal. If a degree of hospitality is entirely unavoidable, ensure it is of a minimum, 
its acceptance is declared as soon as possible, including its addition to your register 
of interests where relevant.  

 Do copy or pass on any lobbying correspondence you receive to the Development 
Control Manager at the earliest opportunity.

 Do promptly refer to the [Development Control Manager] any offers made to you of 
planning gain or constraint of development, through a proposed s.106 Planning 
Obligation or otherwise.

 Do inform the Monitoring Officer where you feel you have been exposed to undue or 
excessive lobbying or approaches (including inappropriate offers of gifts or 
hospitality), who will in turn advise the appropriate officers to follow the matter up.

 Do note that, unless you have a disclosable or overiding other personal conflict of 
interest, you will not have fettered your discretion or breached this Planning Code 
through:
- listening or receiving viewpoints from residents or other interested parties;
- making comments to residents, interested parties, other Members or appropriate 

officers (making clear that you must keep an open mind when it comes to making 
the decision); 

- seeking information through appropriate channels; or
- being a vehicle for the expression of opinion of others in your role as a 

[Ward][Division] Member.

6. Lobbying by Councillors 

 Don’t become a member of, lead or represent an organisation whose primary 

73



APPENDIX 1

purpose is to lobby to promote or oppose planning proposals unless it is your 
intentention to openly campaign on the matter and will therefore step away from the 
Committee when it comes to make it’s decision.

 Do join general interest groups which reflect your areas of interest and which 
concentrate on issues beyond particular planning proposals (such as the Victorian 
Society, CPRE, Ramblers Association or a local civic society), but you should 
normally seek to disclose that interest on the grounds of transparency where the 
organisation has made representations on a particular proposal.

 Don’t excessively lobby fellow councillors regarding your concerns or views nor 
attempt to persuade them that they should decide how to vote in advance of the 
meeting at which any planning decision is to be taken

 Don’t decide or discuss how to vote on any application at any political group meeting, 
or lobby any other Member to do so. Political Group Meetings should never dictate 
how Members should vote on a planning issue.  

7. Site Visits/Inspections

 Do try to attend site visits organised by the Council where possible.

 Don’t request a site visit unless you feel it is strictly necessary because: 
- particular site factors are significant in terms of the weight attached to them 

relative to other factors or the difficulty of their assessment in the absence of a 
site inspection; or 

- there are significant policy or precedent implications and specific site factors 
need to be carefully addressed.

 Do ensure that you report back to the Committee any information gained from the site 
visit that you feel would benefit all Members of the Committee

 Do ensure that you treat the site visit only as an opportunity to seek information and 
to observe the site.

 Do ask the officers at the site visit questions or seek clarification from them on 
matters which are relevant to the site inspection.

 Don’t hear representations from any other party, with the exception of the Ward 
Member(s) whose address must focus only on site factors and site issues. Where 
you are approached by the applicant or a third party, advise them that they should 
make representations in writing to the authority and direct them to or inform the 
officer present.

 Don’t express opinions or views.

 Don’t enter a site which is subject to a proposal other than as part of an official site 
visit, even in response to an invitation, as this may give the impression of bias unless:
- you feel it is essential for you to visit the site other than through attending the 

official site visit, 
- you have first spoken to the Development Control Manager about your intention 

to do so and why (which will be recorded on the file) and 
- you can ensure you will comply with these good practice rules on site visits.

74



APPENDIX 1

8. Public Speaking at Meetings

 Don’t allow members of the public to communicate with you during the Committee’s 
proceedings (orally or in writing) other than through the scheme for public speaking 
or through the Chair, as this may give the appearance of bias.

 Do ensure that you comply with the Council’s procedures in respect of public 
speaking.

9. Officers

 Don’t put pressure on officers to put forward a particular recommendation. (This 
does not prevent you from asking questions or submitting views to the [Development 
Control Manager], which may be incorporated into any committee report).

 Do recognise that officers are part of a management structure and only discuss a 
proposal, outside of any arranged meeting, with a Head of Service or those officers 
who are authorised by their Head of Service to deal with the proposal at a Member 
level. 

 Do recognise and respect that officers involved in the processing and determination 
of planning matters must act in accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct for 
Officers and their professional codes of conduct, primarily the Royal Town Planning 
Institute’s Code of Professional Conduct. As a result, planning officers’ views, 
opinions and recommendations will be presented on the basis of their overriding 
obligation of professional independence, which may on occasion be at odds with the 
views, opinions or decisions of the Committee or its Members.

10. Decision Making

 Do ensure that, if you request a proposal to go before the Committee rather than be 
determined through officer delegation, that your planning reasons are recorded and 
repeated in the report to the Committee.

 Do come to meetings with an open mind and demonstrate that you are open-minded.

 Do comply with section [38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004][Art 
4(2A) The Planning (Northern Ireland) Order 1991] and make decisions in 
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

 Do come to your decision only after due consideration of all of the information 
reasonably required upon which to base a decision. If you feel there is insufficient 
time to digest new information or that there is simply insufficient information before 
you, request that further information. If necessary, defer or refuse.

 Don’t vote or take part in the meeting’s discussion on a proposal unless you have 
been present to hear the entire debate, including the officers’ introduction to the 
matter.

 Do have recorded the reasons for Committee’s decision to defer any proposal [and 
that this is in accordance with the Council’s protocol on deferrals].

 Do make sure that if you are proposing, seconding or supporting a decision contrary 
to officer recommendations or the development plan that you clearly identify and 

75



APPENDIX 1

understand the planning reasons leading to this conclusion/decision.  These reasons 
must be given prior to the vote and be recorded.  Be aware that you may have to 
justify the resulting decision by giving evidence in the event of any challenge.

11. Training

 Don’t participate in decision making at meetings dealing with planning matters if you 
have not attended the mandatory planning training prescribed by the Council.

 Do endeavour to attend any other specialised training sessions provided, since these 
will be designed to extend your knowledge of planning law, regulations, procedures, 
Codes of Practice and the Development Plans beyond the minimum referred to 
above and thus assist you in carrying out your role properly and effectively.

 Do participate in the annual review of a sample of planning decisions to ensure that 
Members` judgements have been based on proper planning considerations.

76



PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM 8

18 NOVEMBER 2014 PUBLIC REPORT

Cabinet Members responsible: Councillor Cereste - Leader of the Council and Cabinet
Member for Growth, Strategic Planning, Housing, Economic
Development and Business Engagement

Contact Officer:
Reporting Officer:

Nick Harding (Head of Development & Construction)
Paul Smith (Compliance & S106 Manager)

Tel. 454441
Tel. 453468 

PLANNING COMPLIANCE QUARTERLY REPORT ON ACTIVITY & PERFORMANCE JULY TO 
SEPTEMBER 2014 

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM : Director of Growth and Regeneration Deadline date : November 2014

That Committee notes past performance and outcomes.

1. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

1.1 It is useful for Committee to look at the Planning Service’s planning compliance 
performance and activity and identify if there are any lessons to be learnt from the actions 
taken. This will help inform future decisions and potentially reduce costs. This report is 
presented under the terms of the Council’s constitution Part 3, delegations section 2 para 
2.5.1.4.

2. TIMESCALE.

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If Yes, date for relevant 
Cabinet Meeting

n/a

3. MAIN BODY OF REPORT

3.1 In the second quarter of 2014/15 we received a total of 156 service requests (we usually 
average 150 cases per quarter). Taking into account the number of cases closed over the 
period (140 cases) as at 30 September 2014 we had 164 live cases being investigated / in 
the process of being resolved. The Technical Services Team acknowledged 99% of new 
service requests within 3 working days this quarter, well above the target of 80%. 95% of 
initial site visits were made within 7 days of the service request being received, again well 
above the 80% target. A total of 5 enforcement notices were issued in the quarter and 4 
enforcement notices issued in previous quarters have been checked and were found to 
have been complied with. We received 6 more cases than the quarterly average of 150. 
The number of cases closed was 10 below the quarterly average. There were no 
prosecution cases to report this quarter. However there was one notable outcome to report, 
namely Anteon UK Ltd, Newark Road, Fengate (14/00004/ENFNOT) – Appeal dismissed. 
Please see the attached Appendix 1 for further details of the Planning Compliance Team 
Quarterly Report on Activity & Performance.

4. IMPLICATIONS

77



4.1 Legal Implications – There are no legal implications relating to this report on 
performance, although the enforcement process itself must have due regard to legal 
considerations and requirements.

Financial Implications – This report itself does not have any financial implications.

Human Rights Act – This report itself has no human rights implications but the 
enforcement process has due regard to human rights issues.

Human Resources – This report itself has no human resources implications.  

ICT – This report itself has no ICT implications.  

Property – This report itself has no Property implications.

Contract Services – This report itself has no Contract Services implications. 

Equality & Diversity – This report itself has no Equality and Diversity Implications, 
although the enforcement process has due regard to such considerations.

78



APPENDIX 1

INFORMATION ITEM: PLANNING COMPLIANCE TEAM QUARTERLY REPORT ON ACTIVITY 
& PERFORMANCE – Qtr 2 (Jul-Sept 2014)

Description No. Comments
Complaints Received 156 The number of cases received was 6 

above the average for a quarter
Complaints Resolved (cases 
closed as % of cases received)

140 
(89.74%)

The number of cases closed was 10 
below the average for a quarter and we 
closed 16 less than we received

Complaints on Hand/Pending 164/114 Cases on hand has fallen by 18 since 
Last Quarter and the number of cases 
pending has fallen by 19.

Enforcement Notices Served
Type of Notice No. Comments
Planning Contravention Notice 1 Requisition for information
Enforcement Notice 1 Change of use and operational 

development
Operational Development 
Notice

1 Physical building works

Change of Use Notice 2 Unauthorised use is required to end
Total Notices Served 5 Two less than last quarter

Enforcement Notices Complied With 
Type of Notice No. Comments
S215 Untidy land and buildings 1 Overgrown garden and poorly 

maintained buildings
Operational Development 
Notice

3 Physical building works

Total Notices Complied with 4 1 more than last quarter

Court Action Agreed
Type of Notice No. Comments
None

Prosecutions
Type of Notice No. Comments, including cost awards
None

Performance Measures
Description % / Time Comments
% of cases closed within 8 weeks if 
No Breach found.

76% 10% less than last quarter - 
Target of 80%

Average time (weeks) to resolve all 
cases closed last quarter.

23 weeks Up by 8 weeks

LPI % of complaints acknowledged within 
3 working days.

99% 2% more than last quarter - 
Target of 80%

LPI % of site inspections carried out within 
7 days of acknowledgement.

95% 3% less than last quarter - 
Target of 80%

Cumulative Compliance Performance
Description Target This quarter Yearly 

average
Enforcement cases closed 
within 8 weeks if no breach 
found.

80% within 8 weeks 76% 79.6%

Acknowledgement of 80% within 3 working days 99% 97.5%

79



APPENDIX 1

enforcement complaints.
Enforcement site visits 
carried out within 7 days of 
acknowledgement.

80% within 7 days 95% 97.1% 

80


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 21 October 2014
	5.1 14/01558/WCPP - Milton Builders And Groundworks, Werrington Bridge Road, Milking Nook, Peterborough
	5.1 - 1401558WCPP Milton Builders And Groundworks, Werrington Bridge Road, Milking Nook

	5.2 14/01631/FUL - Herlington House, Benyon Grove, Orton Malborne, Peterborough
	5.2 - 1401631 Herlington House, Benyon Grove, Orton Malborne

	5.3 Enforcement Action in Stanground Central Ward
	5.3 - Location Plan - Enforcement Action in Stanground Central Ward (CONFID)
	5.3 - Enforcement Action in Stanground  Central Ward (CONFID)
	5.3 - Appendix 1 - Enforcement Action in Stanground Central Ward (CONFID)

	6 157-161 Fletton Avenue (Palace Gardens), Fletton, Peterborough - Local Government Ombudsman Case
	6 - Appendix 1 - Local Government Ombudsman Report – 157-161 Fletton Avenue (Palace Gardens)
	6 - Appendix 2 - Local Government Ombudsman Report – 157-161 Fletton Avenue (Palace Gardens)
	6 - Appendix 3 - Local Government Ombudsman Report – 157-161 Fletton Avenue (Palace Gardens)

	7 Adoption Of The Model Council Members Planning Code Or Protocol
	7 - Appendix 1 - Adoption Of The Model Council Members Planning Code Or Protocol

	8 Planning Compliance Quarterly Report on Activity & Performance July to September 2014
	8 - Appendix 1 - Planning Compliance Quarterly Report Qtr 2 (Jul-Sept 2014)




